2021 ANNUAL REPORT &R

ational Limited

VA —
> B R & §
Islands with limited liability)
5] )

i
‘9 CNNC |
b 2
( ted in'th
MEEE  merssnmms
CNNC Stock Code B335 : 2302




CONTENTS
Corporate Information'

" Chairman’s Statement
Management Discussion and Analysis
Environmental, Social and

Corporate Governance Report
Risk Management
Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
Directors’ Report * ’
Independent Auditor’s Report ;
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financie

Consolidated Statemen_t of Ch

Consdli_dated Statement of _

Notes

solidated F

Financial.

uity

tatements

17

47
50
53

61

70

76

5 4 -

RAEH
EREEE
GELEE Y
#55 ek
n¥E AR

B EE .
i

87 1 B

= = S
meBmk




CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

Corporate Information

ARER S

§3uane

CNNC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Zhong lJie

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Zhang Yi

Non-Executive Director
Wu Ge

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cui Liguo

Zhang Lei

Chan Yee Hoi

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chan Yee Hoi (Chairman)
Wu Ge

Cui Liguo

Zhang Lei

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Cui Liguo (Chairman)

Zhang Yi

Wu Ge

Zhang Lei

Chan Yee Hoi

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Zhong lJie (Chairman)

Zhang Yi

Cui Liguo

Zhang Lei

Chan Yee Hoi

COMPANY SECRETARY
Li Philip Sau Yan

PRERARAE

(RHASHSEMAIZ HRAR)
EER
EFEFNITESE

THARBEHTES
R

EBITESE
RX

BIAERTES
!

RE

B8

ERZESTE
BRASE (Z/8)
2%

EFE

RE

HWNEST
EFIE(ZE)
R

2%

RE

BRAS

RBEET
B (ER)
R

A E

FE

BRI

ABHE
i



REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309GT

Ugland House

South Church Street

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Unit 3009, 30th Floor

No. 118 Connaught Road West

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2598 1010

Fax: (852) 2598 6262

Email: info@cnncintl.com

SOLICITORS

Chungs Lawyers (in association with DeHeng Law Offices)
KY Woo & Co.

AUDITOR
BDO Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE (BRANCH REGISTRAR)
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

46th Floor

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE (REGISTRAR)
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman lIslands

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.cnncintl.com

SHARE LISTING AND STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 2302

ot i 3 5 52
P.O. Box 309GT
Ugland House
South Church Street
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

BMEERTEESEME,
s

THEEMIISH

301£3009%

% 55 : (852) 2598 1010
{8 H : (852) 2598 6262
T E : info@cnncintl.com

#ED
ERAMEHA(RBERMEHAB L
BB RETT

% 2 B
EAIEBREHDELHERA

FEERRAT

L R(T (F8) R AT
ZBRIT(E)ERAA
BIRB TR A 7

T H BT (S BRA T

EERHBBEELE (55E)

BERREBSFELHERADF
BB
ERANBERISIFHA FAF L
461Z

HERERMEBFRERE
HER)

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A
Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100
Cayman Islands

2\ Bl H

www.cnncintl.com

3

LEvEE e




é('i-_"ifnite_d 2021 Annual Report

Chairman’s Statement

FRRES

tl"{{

TN béhalf of the Board of Directors of CNNC International Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |

present the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31st December, 2021 (the “Year”).

2020 was a difficult year for the Group. Trading in the shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) had been suspended with effect from 9:00
a.m. on 30th April, 2021,
annual results of the Group for the financial
31st December, 2020 (the “2020 Annual Results”).

pending the publication of the audited

year ended
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According ts 'the"-‘a‘hh'('):unc.ement'of the Company dated 29th April,
12021, the delay in publication of the 2020 Annual Results was due
to the fact that the audit works had not been completed, which
could only be completed upon the satisfactory completion of a
comprehensive review on the write-down of inventory of
approximately HK$52,409,000 of the Company (the “Impairment
Loss”) due to the defects of certain electronics components

inventory in the supply chain business.

The Company has received resumption guidance from the Stock
Exchange and the Company has been following that closely as
announced by the Company in its announcements on 9th July,
2021, 29th October, 2021, 28th January, 2022, 28th April, 2022
and 28th July, 2022 in relation to, amongst other matters, the
quarterly updates on status of resumption of trading in the Shares.

BUSINESS AND INVESTMENT

The Group has continued and focused on its business of trading of
mineral properties during the Year and also reported a discontinuing
business of supply chain business for which the last transactions
were completed in 2020 with trade receivables received in full in the
Year.
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As mentioned in the announcement, dated 13th November, 2020,
of the Company, the board of CNNC Leasing (an associate of the
Company, the equity interest of which was then held as to
approximately 18.45% by the Group) had approved to enter into an
absorption and merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with
China Nuclear E&C Financial Leasing Co., Ltd (P ZREHERR
A @) ("CNECFL”) and the shareholders of CNECFL (“CNECFL
Shareholders”) in relation to the merger (the “Merger”) of CNNC
Leasing with CNECFL. The Merger provided an enlarged capital base
for CNNC Leasing to expand its business. With the public utilities
projects of CNECFL succeeded by CNNC Leasing, CNNC Leasing is
expected to be able to diversify its business. The Group’s interests in
CNNC Leasing were reduced from approximately 18.45% to
approximately 11.36% (as enlarged by the New Equity Interest).

VIEWS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND THE
BOARD ON THE AUDITOR’S OPINION

As set out in the report of the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) for the 2021 financial statements, the Auditor’'s opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year was
qualified (the “Qualified Opinion”) to the extent that the Auditor
was unable to determine whether the profit for the Year from the
discontinued operation (the “Discontinued Operation Profit”), the
loss for the year from discontinued operation during the 2020 Year,
and the related disclosures relating to the discontinued operation are
fairly stated. The Discontinued Operation Profit represented the
remaining trade receivables with interest received during the Year
from the then customers of the already ceased supply chain business
of the Group (the “Supply Chain Business”), in relation to which the
Auditor had concerns on the performance and financial positions of
the Supply Chain Business for the 2020 Year and as at 31st
December, 2020, respectively, due to certain problematic purchases
of the Group (the “Problematic Purchases”), and issued a disclaimer
of opinion on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
2020 Year (the “2020 Year Auditor's Opinion”). For further details
of the views of the Audit Committee and the Board on the 2020
Year Auditor's Opinion, please refer to the 2020 annual report in
relation to the final results of the Group for the 2020 Year for
further details.

Having taken into account the abovementioned factors into
consideration, the Audit Committee and the Board consider that the
Qualified Opinion was substantively a residual effect from the
Problematic Purchases, and therefore, limited to the
discontinued operation of the Group, and that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year give a true and fair
view of the performance and financial positions of the continuing
operations the Group for the Year and as at 31st December, 2021,

was

respectively.
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We have noted also the Auditors issued an unmodified audit report
(except qualified opinion on comparative figures and those
mentioned above) on the 2021 financial statements of the Company
which signifies that the Issues associated with the supply chain
business have been resolved.

RESULTS

During the Year, the Group has recorded revenue from trading of
natural uranium of approximately HK$280,639,000 (2020:
approximately HK$662,994,000) for the Year, a decrease of
approximately 58% over last year. The decrease in revenue was
attributed to a depressed uranium market for most of the Year and
the negative impact on available external financial resources for the
uranium trading business as a result of the share trading suspension

continued in the Year.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Year 2022 will continue to be a challenging year. The Group will
continue to adjust its strategy to focus on the continued
development of its natural uranium trading business and to actively
seek high-quality uranium resources projects to complement the
development of the CNNC Group. We noted the uranium market
price increased during the fourth quarter of 2021 and it appears the
price will be in an upward trend which will facilitate the Group's
uranium trading business.

The Group will continue to communicate and negotiate with the
Mongolian Government to set up a joint venture company for the
application of the mining licenses of the Group’s Mongolian Mining
Project to protect its interests in the Project.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
their
supports and my gratitude to the Group’s

| would like to take this
shareholders, customers and business partners for
long-standing
management team and staff for their endeavours and contributions
in the past year.

Zhong lJie
Chairman
Hong Kong, 9th September, 2022
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MARKET AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Results

For the Year, while the Group has recorded a decrease in revenue of
approximately 58% to approximately HK$280,639,000 (2020 Year:
approximately HK$662,994,000), while gross profit has increased by
58% to approximately HK$20,610,000 (2020 Year: approximately
HK$13,013,000) as compared to the 2020 Year. The decrease in
revenue was attributed to a depressed uranium market for most of
the Year and the negative impact on available external financial
resources for the uranium trading business as a result of the share
trading suspension continued during the Year. The uranium market
has only been notably recovered since the last quarter of the Year,
which contributed to the increase in the overall gross profit for the
Year as the Group concluded a considerably sizeable uranium
transaction in late 2021. There was also an increase of share of
result of an associate to approximately HK$15,065,000 (2020 Year:
share of loss of approximately HK$4,140,000), and a reduction in
finance cost to approximately HK$9,834,000 (2020 VYear:
approximately HK$14,896,000). As a result of the foregoing, the
Group reported a net profit from continuing operations of trading of
uranium products of approximately HK$622,000 (2020 Year: a net
loss of approximately HK$9,591,000). During the Year, the
discontinued operation of the supply chain business recorded a
segment profit of HK$1,767,000 (2020 Year:
HK$36,506,000)
receivables collected during the Year from then customers of the

a net loss of

arising from the interest of the remaining

discontinued supply chain business.

Market and Business Overview

During the Year, the Group has continued its business of trading of
uranium products in its normal and usual course of business. In
March 2020, having evaluated, among other things, the financial
and inventory risks involved in the electronic products business
particularly brought to light from incidents of the problematic
purchases, and the uncertainties on the macro environment
attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic (the
management of the Company resolved to cease the electronic

“"Pandemic”), the

products business and to wind down the dispersed metals business
with an aim to cease all supply chain business. The Company has
since been focused more on the uranium products trading business,
and to actively seek high-quality uranium resources projects to
complement the development of its parent group, as well as to
leverage on the strengths of the parent group. The Group had
ceased all trading of electronic products and dispersed metals by the
end of 2020 and, with the collection of the remaining trade
receivables with interest from certain customers during the 2021
Year, formally discontinued the operation of the supply chain
business in the Year.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
13th November, 2020, the Group was unsuccessful in the appeal to
the lawsuit relating to the Mongolian Mining Project. However, on
29th October, 2020, a working committee (“Committee”) including,
amongst others, representatives from the Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM", the respondent of the
lawsuit) was set up with a view to help resolve the disputes
regarding the expiry of the exploration licenses of the Group. The
management believes it is a positive sign of the MRPAM's intention
towards resolving the disputes, though at this stage, there is no
guarantee that the matter shall be resolved in favour of the Group.

The Company is closely monitoring the progress of the lawsuit and
the work of the Committee and will make further announcement(s)
as and when appropriate.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group has “Revenue” and “Cost of Sales”
from the continuing operations of the trading of natural uranium of
approximately HK$280,639,000 (2020 Year:

HK$662,994,000) and HK$260,029,000 (2020 Year:
HK$649,981,000) respectively, a decrease of approximately 58% for
“Revenue” and 60% for “Cost of Sales”, which resulted in “Gross
Profit” of approximately HK$20,610,000 (2020 Year: approximately
HK$13,013,000) as compared to the 2020 Year. The reduction in
“Revenue” was attributed to a depressed uranium market for most

approximately
approximately

of the Year and the negative impact on available external financial
resources for the uranium trading business as a result of the share
trading suspension continued in the Year. The uranium market has
only been notably recovered since the last quarter of the Year,
which contributed to the increase in the overall gross profit for the
Year as the Group concluded a considerably sizeable uranium
transaction in late 2021.

During the Year, the Group has recorded no “Revenue” and “Cost
of Sales” from the discontinued operation of the supply chain
business (2020 Year: revenue of approximately HK$999,476,000 and
cost of sales of approximately HK$1,026,211,000 which included the
write-down of inventory in relation to the electronics products of
approximately HK$52,409,000), and accordingly no
from the discontinued operation of the supply chain business was
(2020 Year:
HK$26,735,000), as the Group ceased all transactions of the supply
chain business by the end of 2020 Year.

"Gross Profit”

recorded negative gross profit of approximately
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The Group succeeded in reversing its loss position and reported a
net profit for the Year of approximately HK$2,389,000 (2020 Year:
net loss of approximately HK$46,097,000) as compared to the 2020
Year, mainly driven by, among other things: (i) a gross profit of
approximately HK$20,610,000 (2020 Year:
HK$13,013,000) from the continuing operations of the trading of

approximately

natural uranium; (ii) the absence of the impairment loss on property,
plant, and equipment in the Year (2020 Year: impairment loss of
approximately HK$11,459,000); (i) a share of profit from an
associate of approximately HK$15,065,000 in the Year (2020 Year:
share of loss of approximately HK$4,140,000); and (iv) a reduction in
finance costs to approximately HK$9,834,000 in the Year (2020
Year: approximately HK$14,896,000).

“Other income and gains and losses”, of approximately
HK$3,240,000 (2020 Year: approximately HK$2,120,000), was mainly
due to bank interest income increased for the Year. “Net exchange
gains” of approximately HK$892,000 were recorded during the Year
(2020 Year: approximately HK$247,000) which were mainly due to
the appreciation of assets denominated in the US$ during the Year.

“Selling and distribution expenses” has decreased by approximately
56% to approximately HK$639,000 (2020 Year: approximately
HK$1,459,000) due to a lower overall uranium trading activities in
the Year as compared to the 2020 Year. “Administrative expenses”
amounted to approximately HK$26,255,000 (2020 Year:
approximately HK$15,463,000), increased by
as the Group had

which has
approximately 70%, incurred additional
professional fees for the independent review on the causes of the
loss on inventory write-down in relation to electronic products of
approximately HK$52,409,000 (the “Inventory write-down"”) for the
2020 Year. approximately HK$6,251,000 of
administrative expenses that were recognised under the segment of
discontinued operation of the supply chain business in the 2020 the

Year were subsequently being reclassified to administrative expenses

In addition,

for the Year.

Following the merger of our associate, CNNC Financial Leasing
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”), with another financial leasing
company within our parent group in December 2020, our interest in
the associate was diluted to approximately 11.36% (of the enlarged
capital). The Group recorded “share of result of an associate” of
profits of approximately HK$15,065,000 (2020 Year: share of loss of
approximately HK$4,140,000), an increase of approximately 464%,
as the fin.:aipcial results of the associate have shown significant
improvement after the merger.
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During the Year, the Group incurred “Finance costs” of
approximately HK$9,834,000 (2020: approximately HK$14,896,000)
mainly arising from interests incurred for bank borrowings utilized in
the investment in an associate, a reduction of approximately 34%
due to the absence of finance costs relating to the discontinued
operation of the supply chain business.

During the Year, “Income tax expense” of approximately
HK$2,457,000 was provided (2020 Year: approximately
HK$2,553,000). The decrease was mainly for reason that less PRC
withholding tax was paid on dividend received from an associate.

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

Summing up the combined effects of the foregoing, net income for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$2,389,000 (2020 Year: net
loss of approximately HK$46,097,000), which consisted of net
income of HK$622,000 (2020 Year: net loss of approximately
HK$9,591,000) from the continuing operations, and net income of
HK$1,767,000 (2020 Year: net loss of HK$36,506,000) from the
discontinued operation. After taken into account of the other
comprehensive income of approximately HK$23,199,000 (2020 Year:
approximately HK$20,242,000) relating to exchange differences
arising from the translation to presentation currency, and share of
exchange difference of an associate, the total comprehensive income
for the Year amounted to approximately HK$25,588,000 (2020 Year:
expense of approximately HK$25,855,000).

FUTURE STRATEGIES

As set out in the sub-section headed “Market and Business
Overview” above, the Group ceased all trading of electronic
products and dispersed metals in the 2020 Year, and formally
discontinued the operation of the supply chain business in the Year.
The Group intends to focus on and will continue to devote to the
development of the uranium products trading business, and to
actively seek high-quality uranium resources projects to complement
the development of its parent group, as well as to leverage on the
strengths of the parent group in the field of nuclear energy.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
23rd February, 2022, the Company (for itself and on behalf of each
of its subsidiaries) and China National Uranium Corporation, Limited
(PEISHZEAFR A F]) (“CNUC”), an indirect holding company of the
Company, (for itself and on behalf of each of its subsidiaries (other
than the Group) (“CNUC Group”)) entered into a continuing
connected transactions framework agreement (“FA"), pursuant to
which the Group agreed to i) act as the prioritised supplier of CNUC
Group for its short term demand for natural uranium products and
the regional sole supplier of CNUC Group for its
medium-to-long-term demand for natural uranium products; and ii)
act as the exclusive authorised distributor for the sale and
distribution of uranium products produced by the R&ssing uranium
mine (being indirectly owned by CNUC as to approximately
68.62%), for on-sale to third party customers in all countries and
regions around the world except the PRC.

) (continued)
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The Group believes the transactions contemplated under the FA are
in line with the Group’s strategic pursuit of becoming CNUC
Group’s major platform in overseas uranium resources exploration,
development and trading, and will facilitate the Group in further
strengthening its uranium trading business and expand its reach into
the PRC and worldwide market, which in turn will enhance the
Group's profitability in the long run. The continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the FA are expected to occur on a
regular and continuing basis and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group.

On 23rd June, 2022, the FA,
thereunder, and the proposed annual caps under the Continuing
Connected Transactions have been approved by the independent

the transactions contemplated

shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.

Being a member of CNUC Group and having considered the
competitive edges of the Group, the Group is considered to be in a
better strategic position to be designated as the procurement arm of
CNUC Group in the international uranium market.

On 1st July, 2022,
approximately 533,000 pounds of uranium products to the CNUC
Group under the FA.

the Company completed a delivery of

The associate of the Group (Société des Mines d'Azelik S.A.
(“Somina™)) is still facing severe cash flow problems and will not be
able to resume production within a short period of time. The Group
will closely monitor the situation and continue to work with the
other shareholders of Somina for its future plans.

In relation to the Group’s Mongolian Mining Project, the Group will
continue to be engaged in the discussion with the Mongolian
Authority to resolve the expiry issue of the exploration licenses of
the Group's investment in its uranium resources project in Mongolia.
The project has not been, to a material extent, adversely affected by
its slow progress, as the market price of natural uranium products
has remained low during most of the Year.

In the long run, the Group also aims to expand and diversify its
business by leveraging on the strengths of its ultimately holding
in the field of
nuclear energy, to develop projects with reasonable returns and

company, China National Nuclear Corporation,
continues :Eig.explore possible investment opportunities in uranium
resources considering the financial health of the Company, the

overall global uranium market supply and demand dynamics.
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The Company will inform shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) on any major development of the business of the
Group in a timely manner and in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31st December, 2021, the Group employed 22 (2020 Year:
23) full-time employees of whom 5 (2020 Year: 5) were based in
Hong Kong, 13 (2020 Year: 14) were based in the PRC and 4 (2020
Year: 4) were based in Mongolia. Total staff costs incurred during
the Year amounted to approximately HK$16,260,000 (2020 Year:
approximately HK$16,223,000 (together from both continuing and
discontinued operations)).

Remuneration policies and packages for the Group’s employees are
based on their performance, working experiences and conditions
prevailing in the industry. Depending on the financial results of the
Group and the performance of individual employees, eligible staff
may also be granted discretionary performance bonuses, in addition
to basic salaries, retirement schemes and medical benefit schemes.
To raise work quality and management abilities of its employees, the
Group provides job rotation, in-house training and external training
courses to employees.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group recorded a net cash outflow of approximately
HK$23,847,000 (2020 Year: net cash inflow of approximately
HK$41,628,000) during the Year, which was mainly due to the
repayment of bank borrowings. The working capital of the Group
was generally financed by bank balance and cash. The Group’s cash
on hand and bank balances decreased from approximately
HK$144,333,000 as at 31st December, 2020 to approximately
HK$120,625,000 and has no restricted cash as at 31st December,
2021 (at 31st December, 2020: approximately HK$5,433,000) due to
full repayment of bank borrowings during the Year. The Group's
financial position remained healthy in the Year.

As stated in the audited annual result announcement for the 2020
Year, the Group had not complied with certain financial covenant as
stipulated in the bank loan agreement of the Group’s bank
borrowing of approximately HK$282,125,000 outstanding as at
31st December, 2020, which requires the Group to meet certain
amount of consolidated tangible net worth at all times, after
recognition of the inventory write-down of electronics products
included in “Cost of sales” in the amount of approximately
HK$52,409,000 in the consolidated financial statements for the
2020 Year. During the Year, the Group obtained a three years term
loan of approximately HK$230,000,000 (the “Loan”) from its
immediate shareholder, which was utilized to fully repay the
aforesaid bank borrowing. The Loan was fully exempt from the
Listing Rules for connected transaction requirements as: (1) the Loan
was conducted on normal commercial terms or better; and (2) the
Loan was not secured by the assets of the Group. The proceeds of
the Loan were applied to the repayment of Group’'s bank
borrowing. At the end of the Year, the Group did not have any
outstanding bank borrowing.

) (continued)
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During the Year, as stated above the Group repaid all bank
borrowings (at 31st December, 2020: HK$282,125,000). As at 31st
December, 2021, the Group had net current assets amounting to
approximately HK$96,234,000 (at 31st December, 2020: net current
liabilities of approximately HK$124,700,000) and current liabilities
amounting to approximately HK$40,016,000 (at 31st December,
2020: approximately HK$308,787,000). As at 31st December, 2021,
the Group had no trade receivable (at 31st December, 2020:
approximately HK$29,305,000)
31st December, 2020: Nil). Capital expenditures on property, plant
and equipment were approximated HK$281,000 during the Year
(2020 Year: approximately HK$280,000).

and no trade payable (at

Total shareholders” funds increased from approximately
HK$309,067,000 as at 31st December, 2020 to approximately
HK$334,655,000 as at 31st December, 2021, mainly due to the total
comprehensive income during the Year. The gearing ratio, in terms
of total debts to total assets, decreased to 0.44 (2020 Year: 0.50) as
at 31st December, 2021 due to the repayment in bank borrowings
during the Year.

On 17th June, 2022, CNNC Treasury Management Co. Limited
("CNNCTM") (the
Agreement”) with the Company, pursuant to which CNNCTM

entered into a loan agreement “Loan
agreed to provide a revolving loan for a maximum principal amount
of US$50,000,000 (the “Trade Loan”) to the Company with a
drawdown period of one year, during which the Company can make
multiple drawdowns in accordance with the terms of the Trade
CNNCTM
Corporation (“CNNC", together with its subsidiaries but excluding
the Group, the “Parent Group”),

controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to it under the

Loan. is a subsidiary of China National Nuclear

which in turn is the ultimate

Listing Rules) of the Company holding an indirect interest in
approximately 66.72% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, the interest rate of any
amount drawn down from the Trade Loan shall be subject to an
interest rate charge of LIBOR + 1.60% per annum, which is the
same as the interest rate under similar bank facilities the Group had
obtained in recent years (prior to the repayment in full of its last
outstanding trade loan in November 2020), and shall be utilized
solely for the purpose of the Group’s uranium trading business. No
financial or other covenants are required to be given by the Group,
and the Trade Loan would not be secured by assets of the Group.
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As at 17th June, 2022, CNNC,
shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules)

as the ultimate controlling

of the Company, holds an indirect interest in approximately 66.72%
of the issued share capital of the Company, and hence CNNCTM,
being a subsidiary of CNNC, is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules. As such, the Trade Loan constituted a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, financial
assistance received by the Company from a connected person is fully
exempt if it is conducted on normal commercial terms or better and
it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As such, the Trade
Loan would be fully exempt from all disclosure, annual review,
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Trade Loan demonstrates the commitment and full support of
the Parent Group towards the Group in its future development in
the uranium trading business. The Directors believed the Trade Loan
would provide financial support to the Group to enlarge its uranium
trading business.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies for the Year.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s income, expenditure for operation, investment, and
borrowings are mainly denominated in USD, HKD, Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB. Fluctuations of the exchange rates of Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
operating costs of the Group. Currencies other than Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB were relatively stable during the Year, the Group
did not expose to significant foreign exchange risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy for
hedging significant foreign currency exposure.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no significant change in the capital structure of the
Group since 31st December, 2020.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

The 37.2% of the share capital in Somina held by a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Ideal Mining Limited, was pledged to a
bank for banking facilities granted to Somina.
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As compared to the 2020 Year, during the Year, there was a
security for banking facilities granted to the Group for its
approximately 11.36% investment in CNNC Leasing (“Investment
Interest”), the following was charged on the Group: (i) the
Investment Interest; (ii) the 100% share capital in CNNC
International (HK) Limited (“CNNC (HK)"”) (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company and the holder of the Investment Interest); (iii) the
dividend payment of CNNC Leasing; and (iv) certain bank account(s)
of CNNC (HK). The above banking facilities were fully repaid on
27th October, 2021, the corresponding security were fully released.

Apart from the above, there was no other charge on the Group’s
assets during the Year and the 2020 Year.

PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
shares.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

Please refer to the above section of “FUTURE STRATEGIES”. The FA
was signed between the Company and CNUC Group and the
Continuing Connected Transactions have been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 23rd June, 2022, with a
delivery of approximately 533,000 pounds of uranium products was
made on 1st July, 2022.

Please refer also the above section of “LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES”, on 17th June, 2022, CNNC Treasury Management Co.
Limited (“CNNCTM") entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”) with the Company, pursuant to which CNNCTM
agreed to provide a revolving loan for a maximum principal amount
of US$50,000,000 (the “Trade Loan”) to the Company.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD
This
published by the Group, which highlights the Group’s overall

is the fifth Environment, Social and Governance Report
performance in the environmental, social and governance aspects.
The Report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and Guidance on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Unless otherwise stated, this environmental and social report covers
the overall performance of Hong Kong headquarters, Shenzhen
office and Mongolia office for the year ended 31st December, 2021

in the two main areas: environmental and social.

Reporting Principles
This ESG Report is based on the following four reporting principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that
these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the
years to facilitate comparability over time.
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£ ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS HighERFSE
&  The Group has made every effort to engage all of its stakeholders, ANEB—EHHEFREZFNHEETFAIE &
Tg" including shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers FEIEREREZEEE BT TF  #fER
£ and business partners, government and requlators, the environment N EBAEEN BITLEERE RER
g and the community to achieve sustainable development. HEg AERAIFEZRRNER -
% A. Environmental A. IR
3 Types of emissions the Group has involved in the reporting REEBRBERREEZSRE N KK
Tg" period were mainly electricity and paper. The Group’s business REPWER - REB 2 EBIL D
E does not involve in production-related air, water, and land REBRERERAMAECEERE
g pollutions which are regulated under national laws and ZERKERTHIFH
o regulations.
:
Total floor area coverage for the Group was 333 sq.m (2020: REBCZEEEBERIBIFEFAR(ZE
333 sq.m). Of which the floor area coverage for Hong Kong T F 333 F K)o E ‘:F' : ?-5\5% Gl
headquarters, Mongolia office and Shenzhen office was 114 HELEABIAFEAFR(ZEZZF:
sq.m, 89 sg.m and 130 sq.m (2020: 114 sq.m, 89 sq.m and 114$F/+) RO E R LA A’
130 sg.m) respectively. FRHRK(ZEZZTF 8T FK) KR

YIMERBEEBIB0F HR(ZE =
TE 13075 K) -

Greenhouse Gas Emission m EREHNE
Scope of greenhouse Emission Total emission
gas emission Emission sources (in tonnes of CO.e) (in percentage)
HERE BEHEME
BERBHEREE BERUR IR (MW S LB E Eat) (B5kE)
2021 2020 2021 2020

B —_T-TF ZBZ-—-F —_T_ZTF

Scope 1
& [E1

Indirect emission Purchased electricity
4 BE BIHRE 10.94 10.09 92.87% 92.99%

Scope 2
#[E?2

Other indirect emission Paper consumption
H th, ] 52 BE ALSROH #E 0.84 0.76 7.13% 7.01%

Total :
wmEr 11.78 10.85 100% 100%
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Environmental (continved) A. IR\

Greenhouse gas emission intensity mEREHREE
Unit 2021 2020
i —®¥-—§ —T-TF
Total greenhouse gas MERBETNE() tCO,e
emission (a) WE— S CHREE 11.78 10.85
Total floor area of FREBEZ#EZEEED) sqm
coverage (b) K 355 333
Emission intensity (c)=(a)/(b) BEHE E (0)=(a)/(b) tCO,e/sq.m
(SR N
—RAtREE 11.78 0.03
There were approximately 11.78 tonnes (2020: 10.85 tonnes) $%@¥ﬁ‘“ﬁ’\\$ﬁiiﬁF325 EREH
of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted from WMEXHNANTSE(ZZT=ZFF :10.85
the Group’s operation in the reporting period. The annual WE) —ELREE  FEHBERENR
emission intensity was approximately 0.03 tCO,e/sq.m (2020: HFFHFKOBWE —_EtiEs(ZZ =
0.03 tCO,e/sq.m). TFE 00 _RIELRES) -
Electricity 7
The electricity consumption by the Group was approximately REBZHEEELHA15580F K (=
15,580 kWh (2020: 14,370 kWh), contributing to T _ZF 14370F REF) - H &1t
approximately 10.94 tonnes (2020: 10.09 tonnes) of carbon RE 2 ZHM09M4B( =T =T F:
dioxide equivalent. 10.09W8 ) °
The Group always uses energy savings electrical equipment, $%@§K7}ﬁéﬁﬁ’é‘$ﬁ” B S
encourages employees to save energy and enhances electrical BMEITEHNER IEaEREH xﬂl
equipment efficiency. - ENH ﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁﬂi o

|
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B HAROEEA

Environmental (continved)

Paper

A total of approximately 0.2 tonne (2020: 0.2 tonne) of paper
was used for daily office operations by the Group in the
reporting period, contributing to approximately 0.84 tonne
(2020: 0.76 tonne) of carbon dioxide equivalent.

The Group encourages paperless office environment, reducing
the paper usage and requests double-sided printing.

Reduction target of energy and paper
consumption intensity

A.

RE )

iR

REBAELEERBEHKRELY R0.2W
ZTE-TF028)  (E AR E
B 2H084ME (Z T ZF 4 : 0.76MF) °

RNE BB EACH D BEAKRE
AR BREBTHRMAEEIIE -

FRERAAEENEHHEE

Environmental Indicators Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
RIRER K BEE BEEF ik &
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2021 In progress
HEEEE —EZALFHRMA2% —T=—F #iTH
Paper consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2021 In progress
REETE —E-LFRRLD2% T —fF #ITH
The Environment and Natural Resources BRXAEIR

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different
kinds of recycling activities and minimise the use of natural
resources. In the Year, there is no significant impact on the
environment and natural resources arising from the operations
of the Group, in particular, the office.

Climate Change

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one
of the most discussed topics among companies. The Group is
no exception, having increasing concerns over the potential
impact from climate change on the Group’s business and
operation. The Group regularly reviews global and local
government policies, regulatory updates and market trends to
identify potential climate-related risks which may have impact

on the Group’s business operation.

$’§@*§Z§bi\ EREZETFELDN
BRI RERAERNEREER
K-RAEE AFENZELHER
MAE)BBEARENRAERELE
REE-

A EE
ABZHRBRBENEBRTGRS R
REETBRARRAKRERTOGEERLZ
— e NREBEIFABFISN - BB ERAR
BEHAEEXBLLEENEEY
E°$‘£liﬁﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁ%ﬂ*&ﬂﬁﬂ(ﬁ
BE BEERFEERTSEESE
E%%|J7§E$Q%$%@%%%EE’U@E
RARAA R




A.

Environmental (ontinued)

Climate Change (continued)

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are
two major categories of climate-related risks, physical and
transition risks. The Group will immediately develop a response
plan such as changing the business strategy and modifying the
development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts of
such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in
its business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient
resources for managing identified climate-related risks and
studying the potential remediation measures.

During the Year, there is no climate-related risk, including
physical and transitional risks, which have significant impact to
the Group.

Social
(1) Employment and labour practices
In its ongoing pursuit of the aim of “Taking People as
the Foremost”, the Group strictly abides by the
requirements stipulated in the relevant employment laws
and regulations regarding compensation, benefits and
dismissal, such as the Labour Law of the PRC ({/ # A
RHEMBEI L EE)), Labour Contract Law of the PRC
KhZEARKXMEL S A [ L)), the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

IRIE =)
FIEEE =)
RIERIEABBEIT S

SWE T EA
EMHREER  RIFBHERRD /SE
8 N8R L B RO HE o AR & B S 37 BT
i E FE 8 At 8l W& £ RS R B
HERE AREZFRIXEER
BOBEEE -

AEERESICAREZRRERAAA
HEBEE VY EBRERTRE
R REAEE D BRI &R R AR R R
I HF 50 78 1 1 U b

RAFE HEHAEEEEATE
MREERRER(EFEERLERA
)

HE
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B HAROEEA

Social (continued)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

As an equal opportunity employer, all job applicants with
relevant professional qualifications and working
experience receive equal consideration for employment,
regardless of nationality, gender, age, race, religion or
disability. After the job applicants accept the offers,
identification checks are performed to ensure no child
labour is employed. To prevent forced labour,
employees’ employment period, working hours, leave
entitlement and job position are clearly stated in the
employment contract and/or code of conduct of the
Group. The working hours of employees are set in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to working hours, so as to provide employees
with sufficient rest. The Group has strictly complied with
national and regional regulations in terms of statutory
holidays that employees are entitled to, including annual
leave, wedding leave, funeral leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave and so on. In addition, certain
non-statutory required leaves are created to motivate
employees, for example, employees can apply for
additional annual leaves according to their number of
years of working in the Group.

Furthermore, the Group provides competitive
remuneration package to employees and conducts annual
remuneration reviews based on prevailing market
standards and their working performance. Employees
with outstanding performance in the appraisal will also
be given promotion opportunities. The Group follows the
local labour laws and social security laws and regulations
to provide social security benefits for all employees. For
example, the Group contributes to various social
insurance scheme (endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury
insurance and maternity insurance) and housing
provident fund for the employees in Mainland China;
contributes to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
the employees in Hong Kong. Upon receipt of
resignation letter from employees, exit interview will be
arranged to understand their reasons of resignation and
payment of the outstanding wages will be made in a
timely manner as required by relevant laws.

HE
(1) EERELEH =

(%)

ERFERERE FAEEER
REHLTHEABHEBEXER
RIEER s RBEFSHS
THERE - MR- Fie Bk
R G BRI R B F o K
BEXRER FETHIOHRE
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1R B B2 1 B OR 2 JOK R Ml
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Social (continued)

(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

Employment

The Group had a total number of 22 (2020: 23) full

Re pO rt (conz‘mued)

EEREE o

B. #&
(1) EBRERELEH =
1E1E

R-ZE_—F+-_A=+—8H"

time employees as of 31st December, 2021. &R E ﬁzz% BE(ZZE_-%
F:23%) 2HMRERESR -
Employee’s location distribution Hong Kong PRC Mongolia
EERES & HE Ed
No. Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage
N flibt N flibt A# 14
2021
—TZ—F 23% 13 59% 4 18%
2020
—E-TF 22% 14 61% 4 17%
Employee’s sex distribution Male Female
& SR 5 it g3
No. Percentage No. Percentage
AB (174 AB 174
2021
—E-—F 9 41% 13 59%
2020
—R-EF 1 48% 12 52%
Employee’s age distribution 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 & above
EEFRA 26-35 36-45 46-55 56% ML
No. Percentage No.  Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage
N | 11179 A% 11374 N 11174 N | 11179
2021
—T=-% 9 41% 6 27% 6 27% 1 5%
2020
it o 2 11 48% 7 31% 4 17% 1 4%

The Group’s employee turnover rate during the Year is

AEBRAFENRBRAEH

stated as follows (Note 1): HEAT (B 5E1)
2021

—EB-—%
Turnover rate by gender ZMRIE DR K E
Male B 33%
Female pegis —
Turnover rate by age REREDHRAE
Under 35 years old 355 A T 1%
35-50 years old 35E505% 25%  d
Over 50 years old 508% A k£ S
Turnover rate by geographical region 1% i [@ 2] o # 7 ok R
Hong Kong BB
PRC 8]
Note 1: The employee turnover rate is calculated based on the number of employees W%}1_= EE“%$753E

who cease employment in each category during the Year divided by the

average number of employees in that category.

“A%#Mw#ﬂ&?ﬁ@ﬁAﬂ
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(1) EERELEH =

B. Social (continued) B.
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC ({FPZEARKMEL %)),
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({2 A R 2L A E 44
& [RJE)), and other applicable laws and regulations that
has a significant impact relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on the
Group during the Year. In addition, no significant fine or
non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations has been reported in the Year.

In addition, no significant fine or non-monetary sanction
for non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
has been reported in the Year.

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the protection
of the health and safety of the employees and strictly
complies with the laws and regulations in relation to
labour protection, such as the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases (™ #
AR KEFIE B ZE /B 485%)) and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

To ensure the safety of employees, they are required to
undergo physical examination and attend occupational
health and safety trainings to better understand the
health and safety practices of the Group. In order to
safequard the health of employees and safety of
properties, accident handling procedures have been set
up in case of emergency.

BT X ROE M
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B. Social (continued) B. ?“ig(@)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) ERRETER =

Health and 5&7[@0/ (continued)

Due to the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019, the
Group strictly adopts various prevention policies such as
(i) maintaining air circulation in office area during
working hours; (ii) personal health management; (iii)
frequent cleaning of office area; (iv) wearing masks by all
staff before entering office area; and (v) measuring the
body temperature of staff and guest before entering
office area. Besides, the Group arranges flexible working
hours and adopts work-from-home policies by using a
virtual private network to access the system of the
Group remotely.

There were no work-related fatalities reported for the
three years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.
During the Year, no lost days due to work injury were
noted.

Development and training

The Group pays great attention to staff development and
training to enhance their technical skills and
professionalism. The Group provided its employees
multiple external and internal trainings in professional
skills, management, linguistics and business, and a total
of 706 hours (2020: 888 hours) training courses were
conducted in the reporting period.

Z@‘/?ﬁﬁ;?ﬁf_\(@)
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Social (continued) B. ?“i
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1)
Development and training (continued)
During the Year, the percentage of employees trained

i
B @)

ERRSTEM =
N 1E 5 o)
RAFEARN XIMEEBS LK

and the average training hours completed per employee B2 & B TIN5 R Eon
are as follows: TR
2021
—E-—%
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) ZHEE T » L (FFEET) 55%
Percentage of employees trained by gender  IZMFIEI D 2 ZFIEE B D LE
(Note 2) (B 5E2)

Male S 50%

Female I 50%

Percentage of employees trained REEBAES CXIEETS I

by employee category (Note 2) (B 3E2)

Senior management ERERE 42%

Middle management hRE R 25%

General staff —®ET 33%

Average training hours completed per BHREETKZIITFHRE(HHE3) 31 hours

employee (Note 3) 31/ BF

Average training hours completed per ZHRE D 2 BEEBTKRZIIF

employee by gender (Note 4) 15 05 B (Kt 534)
Male B4 37 hours
37/ EF

Female 7 26 hours

26/MNEF

Average training hours completed per ZEEBEANESZBEEETKE

employee by employee category (Note 4) A 2 I 2B 524)
Senior management aBRERE 73 hours
73/ EF

Middle management hRE R 22 hours

22/NBF

General staff —fRETL 16 hours

16/MEF

Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of M1 RINEBED LIRS MFINEEA
employees who took part in training by the number of employees. HBRINB T ABGTE -

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained by category is calculated based on the M2 . REJNSENZIEEE AL TIERR
number of employees trained in each category during the Year divided by AEFNSENZIEE ABBRIAL M
the number of employees who took part in training. BilMEE ABGTE -

Note 3: Average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the total number M3 : BREBXITHRBETIIREZIRFE
of training hours by the number of employees. B AR B A8 -

Note 4: Average training hours by categories is calculated by dividing the total number MieEa : RERIE S EFH I NGB RZEARN

of training hours for such category by the number of employees in the
corresponding category.

BRI B AR ER AR -




Social (continued)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

Employees’ communication

The Group strongly believes employees are the most
important assets of the Group and pays a key role in the
development of the Group. The Group, through various
communication channels, motivates its employees in the
reporting period. The Group adopts weekly meetings to
exchange working ideas, plans and to build up effective
communication channels among employees and
management. The Group also organizes group functions,
tea meetings to enhance loyalty and staff relationship.

Labour Standards

The Group fully understands that exploitation of child
and forced labour is universally condemned, and
therefore takes the responsibilities against child and
forced labour very seriously. The policy is implemented in
place to ensure that no person who is underage or
under coercion is hired and, if any such case is identified
during the recruitment process, it will be reported to the
relevant authorities. In case of child labour and forced
labour, the Group will immediately terminate the labour
contract with the employees concerned and the
position-in-charge will be accountable.

Compliance with relevant laws and requlations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with Labour Law of the PRC, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({Z£ -{# B & TR
TE)), Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC (&
#EARLFBIRKF ARZEE)) and other applicable
laws and regulations that has a significant impact
relating to preventing child or forced labour on the
Group in PRC during the Year. In addition, there was no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions in the Year.
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B. Social (continued) B. ?“ig(f?)
(2) Operating practices (2) BEIEH
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Trading in uranium

A strict tendering process is in place to provide an open,
fair and transparent platform for securing the suppliers
for procurement. The Group strictly follows the
procedures for supplier’'s selection, decision making, and
contract signing to ensure the legality, reasonableness
and regulation of the process.

The main activities of the Group are trading in natural
uranium. The main suppliers or brokers range from the
USA, Europe, Kazakhstan and Hong Kong etc. The
business partners range top of their trade and are
reputable companies.

When purchasing materials and equipment, the Group
will comprehensively consider their environmental
performance. For example, when purchasing machines
and lighting systems, we will give priority to more
energy-efficient appliances on the basis of meeting the
technical parameters, with a view to integrating the
Group’s environmental vision into all aspects of the
supply chain.

During the Year, the number of suppliers of the Group
by geographical region is as follows:

& 5
AEEERETHRERF Bt
ERRHIF BH AFZF
e AEEEREHRENHERE
EREACRREX - ARRER
A REXBEINEEZE A
B AR

AEELTZEBRRARMES
TEHER(PHEB) XA XE-
BOM - mER REESERMit
B AEBHOREXRAYLA
- BEEER  EEENAQT

AEBERBROHLBFARTE
HAEZTRERRRE PINBE
BERBBEGRKEFS RS
HRELEAEAERIGZNR
B DHHEREENRERER
SEREHERSERZT -

RARFEER 1R E 2D
EEE T

Ry

Number of
suppliers
#HrEmEE

Region &
USA x 2
UK RE 1
Kazakhstan I8 & 5% 1

Product responsibility
The main business of the Group is not production of
products, thus this is not applicable.
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Social (continued)

2)

(3)

Operating practices (continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group endeavours to uphold the integrity in its
business operation and complies with the laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption. The Group has
adopted the whistle-blowing policy, which provides a
reporting channel for employees to disclose any
suspected bribery, corruption or other unlawful acts at a
meeting or in a written report. Upon receipt of a report,
the Group will handle the case by carrying out

inspection and taking preventive measures.

The Group regularly promotes anti-corruption for the
entire group. The Group would compile anticorruption
promotion materials by collecting the latest relevant
anti-corruption information,

including recent major

corruption incidents in various industries and the

handling measures, etc., and combine them with the

analysis of the Group’s summarised business
characteristics. All the information will be compiled and
distributed to all employees for self-learning in order to
create a good anti-corruption environment within the

Group.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations on
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China. There was no violation
during the Reporting Period.

On 27th May, 2022, the Group invited Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption to provide
a seminar to the senior management and staff of the
Group on prevention against corruption and integrity
management. 18 staff members attended the seminar on
that date.

Community

Community Investment

The Group actively participates in community charity.
During the reporting period, the Group through
donations and courtesy visits supported the lesser
community and improved their life quality. During the
Year, Mongolia office made donations and in the form
courtesy visits to support the local community of
Bayandun, Mongolia.
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BE tEREXEREE «

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions laid down in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
are collectively responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) that aims at
The Board is

responsible for making all major matters of the Company including:

enhancing the Company’s value for stakeholders.

the approval and monitoring of all major policies of the Group,
monitoring financial and operating performance, ensuring the
integrity of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting systems,
the declaration of interim dividend, making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions,

control

overall strategies and budgets,

internal and risk management systems, notifiable and

connected transactions, nomination of directors and Company
Secretary and other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered

into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board currently comprises a total of six members including one
executive director, two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”), whose details are set
out on pages 50 to 52. Members of the Board have different
professional, industry experiences and backgrounds so as to bring in
valuable contributions and advices for the development of the
Group’s business. More than one-third of the Board are INEDs and
one of the INEDs has appropriate related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Directors have full access to accurate, relevant and timely
information of the Group through management and are able to
obtain independent professional advices on issues whenever deemed

necessary by the directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continved)

Regular meetings are held by the Board at least four times a year to

discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group, and additional meetings will be held
when necessary. The Company has held regular board meetings in
the CG Code and also the

Articles of Association of the Company, formal notice and board

accordance with the Listing Rules,

meeting documents are also given in advance to all directors. During
the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. Members of the
Board can attend the meetings either in person or through
electronic means of communication. A record of the directors’

attendance at regular Board meetings is set out on page 46.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated in order to reinforce their independence and accountability.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly established and set out in
writing. The Chairman leads the Board’s workings and proceedings,
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the
Group's strategies and policies and for conducting the Group’s
businesses.

THE TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the non-executive directors is the
period from his appointment to the time of retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. (Please
refer to the Directors’ Report for specific terms of non-executive

directors.)

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
of the INEDs are

Listing Rules. The Company considers all

independent.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
(the “Model Code")
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all

Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the directors, all the directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by

the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. With the assistance of the
accounting department, which is under the supervision of the
management of the Company, the directors ensure that the financial
statements of the Group have been properly prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The directors also ensure that the publication of the accounts of the

Group is in a timely manner.

A report of the independent auditor on the Group’s accounts is set
out in this annual report.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive and formal
induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of
his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant

(i) the business and operations of the Group; (ii)

regulatory requirements; (iii) the corporate governance code of the
Code.
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company and (iv) the Model The Directors may seek
Company’s expenses in order to assist them to perform their duties
to the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged at the

responsibilities.

expenses of the Company whenever necessary. The Directors are
committed to complying with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
on Directors’ training. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided their training records for the year ended 31st December,

2021 to the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board is responsible to ensure that adequate systems of internal
control and risk management are maintained within the Group, and
to review their effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The
internal control and risk management systems are designed to meet
the Group’s particular needs and the risks to which it is exposed,
and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to
eliminate, risks of failure in achieving the Group’s objectives.

identified in the
investigation reports which were summarised in the next section,

Save for the internal control deficiencies
practicable and effective internal control systems and procedures
and risk management systems have been implemented by the Group
to enhance internal control and risk management on an ongoing

basis.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:

o safeguarding assets;

o ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial records
and reports;

o promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and
laws; and
o promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continves

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS (“CONTROL

SYSTEMS”")
Control structure
The Board .

Audit Committee e

The management e

responsible for the overall Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of Audit
Committee;

ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Control Systems in order to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
assets of the Group;

define management structure with clear
lines of responsibility and limit of authority;
and

determine the nature and extent of
significant risk that the Company is willing
to take in achieving the strategic objectives
the Group’s
management strategies.

and formulate risk

oversee the Control Systems of the Group;

review and discuss with the management
annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective
Control Systems; and

consider major findings on internal control
matters and make recommendations to the
Board.

design, implement and monitor the Control
Systems properly and ensure the Control
Systems are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters; and

provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continvea

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS ("CONTROL
SYSTEMS") (continued)

Control structure (continved)

Internal Audit o carry out the analysis and independent

Function appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Control Systems; and

o alert the management/Audit Committee/

Board on the audit review findings or
irregularities, if any, and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and
actions to enhance the internal controls of
the Group.

Control approach

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk

evaluation and risk management measures.

The management conducted interviews with relevant staff members,
reviewing relevant documentation of the internal control system,
identifying and evaluating findings of any deficiencies in the design
of the Group’s internal control system, providing recommendations
for improvement and following up on the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of review on the risk management and internal
control are reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in place to
safequard the assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring maintenance of proper accounting records in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the provision of
use and/or external

reliable financial information for internal

publication.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continved)

The Group conducted an

independent investigation of the

circumstances arising from the Impairment Loss. During the process,

the Independent Expert identified a series of internal

control

deficiencies of the Electronic Products Business as follows:

(a)

incomprehensive inspection policy established but not
followed — an “Electronic Product Inspection Policy” was
only formally established by the Company in November 2019
(more than one and half year since the commencement of the
Even so,

Electronic Products Business). relevant procedural

guidelines as well as the inspection checklist were not
stipulated to govern the quality check process in detail. Also,
it was noted that the inspection policy was not fully complied
with, more particularly the requirement to inspect and test
incoming goods (notwithstanding the absence of relevant
procedural guidelines), and, in the case where there were any
practical difficulties, the requirement to complete physical

verification;

no independent inspection organisation was engaged by
the Company for product verification — it was noted that
no independent inspection organization had been shortlisted
for the arrangement prescribed in the “Electronic Product
Inspection Policy” to verify whether the technical details of the
the

Independent Expert also conceded that there were no qualified

products align with the specifications. Despite so,
third-party testing service providers being reasonably identified
in Hong Kong;

no proofs of originality of suppliers were obtained for
verification — as per the selected samples of the Independent
Expert, it was noted that relevant proofs of originality of some
vendors were not obtained for verification;

no regular suppliers’ evaluation was conducted to assess
the performance of suppliers — it was noted that regular
is not conducted to assess the

suppliers’ evaluation

performance of suppliers;

no authenticity verification documents were obtained to
avoid counterfeit products — despite research regarding the
prevailing market price would be performed to assess the
reasonableness of the offering price of the products in
question, as per the selected samples of the Independent
Expert, it was noted that relevant authenticity verification

documents were not obtained to avoid counterfeit products;
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continved

(f) lack of comparison of business plan — that the actual
operation of the Electronic Products Business was different
from the business plan, which was approved by the Board,
whereas these deviations from the business plan were not
formally reported to and approved by the Board;

(g) ignorance of red flags from the Risk Management
Department of the Company — that there were several risk
alerts raised by the Risk Management Department in the
course of the conducting of the Electronic Products Business.
However, the Operation Team disregarded the risk alerts and
continued to carry out business without formal explanations
and justifications; and

(h)  lack of due care on the part of the Operation Team — that
the Operating Team was not electronic products experts, who
relied on the customers’ recommendations on the choice of
suppliers. Lack of proper quotation process, failure to conduct
proper quality test on the products, and the non-appointment
of testing services providers by the Operation Team were
noted. As a result, the Group failed to identify the
substandard or refurbished products in a timely manner.

For further details of the above findings, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15th August, 2022.

The Group also commissioned an independent Internal Control
Consultant to review the internal control of the Group covered,
amongst others, the following aspect of the Group:

—  Entity-level review under the internal control framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the Treadway
Commission: control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, and monitoring;

—  Activity-level review: financial close reporting process, revenue
and accounts receivable management, cost of services and
other operating expenses, inventory management, bank and
cash management, fixed assets management, human resources
and payroll process, taxation, insurance, and review on
information technology general controls; and

—  Review of compliance procedures of certain Listing Rules and
regulations: Chapter 13 (continuing obligations), Chapter 14
(notifiable transactions), Chapter 14A (connected transactions),
Appendix 14 (corporate governance code), Appendix 16
(financial information) of the Listing Rules, and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (disclosure of inside
information).
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continuea

For the period from 1st January, 2021 to 31st December, 2021 (with
a follow-up review from 1st January, 2022 to 5th July, 2022 for
assessing the remediation status of the deficiencies identified).

As the Electronic Products Business ceased in 2020, no recurring of
the above deficiencies will reappear. The Group with the assistance
from the Internal Control Consultant reviewed whether the above
deficiencies would exist in the existing business, the uranium trading
business. The Group continuously review and modify the internal
control procedures of its uranium trading business as and when is
needed.

As advised by the Internal Control Consultant, the follow-up review
of the Internal Control Review has been completed, upon which
nothing has come to their attention which makes them believe that
relevant internal controls and procedures of the Company in place
not being adequate.

Procedures have been designed for the business objectives,
safeguard asset against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and to

ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
Save for the identified in the
investigation reports which were summarised in the earlier section,
During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Board, through the

Audit Committee, has reviewed effectiveness of the Group’s systems

internal control deficiencies

of internal control and risk management in respect of financial,
operational and compliance aspect annually and considers that the
systems are adequate and effective.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and consider that they are adequate.

Throughout the Year, the Board is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the code provisions on risk management and internal
control as set out in Section D.2 of the CG code.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the remuneration paid to the Company’s auditor,
Messrs BDO Limited, is set out as follows:

2z

% S EH B &
RAEE  BAARARBAESLEES
EHBEHHERAAZLMEHIIMT -

Services rendered

Fees paid/payable

Fi 4R {4t AR 5 Eft ML
2021 2020
—¥-—F ~—ZT-ZTF
HK$'000 HK$’000
EBETT BT T
Audit services Ei IR 1,650 1,400
Non-audit services FEF R
(i.e. Taxation) (Blgn : % 7) 71 124
1,721 1,524
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREEE
The Company’s Audit Committee was first established in December ARARBRZESER —_ZTT-_F+ - AWK
2002 and its terms of reference are available on the Company's ' EB#ESHEHAAQIFTHFE -

website.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
Group's financial reporting system, internal control procedures, risk
management, assessing the adequacy of the human resources of the
Group’s accounting and finance department and maintaining good
and independent communications with the management as well as
external auditor of the Company. Its current members include:

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of four members of the Audit Committee are the INEDs of
the Company. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has appropriate related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules. None of
them is employed by or otherwise affiliated with former or existing
auditor of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and also
had two meetings with the management and external auditors of
the Company. The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings were
tabled to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 46.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s interim
and annual report for the year ended 31st December, 2021 and the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's internal control system and made recommendations to
the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established in
September 2005. Its current members include:

Mr. Cui Liguo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Remuneration Committee are the
INEDs of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and reviewing their
specific remuneration package for directors and senior management,
including terms of salary, discretionary bonus scheme, benefits in
kind, pension rights, compensation payments and other long-term
incentive schemes by reference to market conditions, performance of
the Group and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as
set by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year.
The minutes of the Remuneration Committee meeting were tabled
to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 46.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the policy for
the remuneration of executive director and senior management and
assessed the performance of executives.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
On 27th March, 2012,
Nomination Committee of the Company.

the Board approved the set up of the
Its current members
include:

Mr. Zhong lie (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Nomination Committee are the
INEDs of the Company and the Chairman of the committee is the
Chairman of the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Company’s website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continves

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
at least annually; making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’'s corporate
strategy; identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the
independence of the INEDs; and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year. The
attendance of each member is set out on page 46.

REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of developing
and maintaining sound and effective corporate governance within
the Group and is committed to ensuring that an effective
governance structure is put in place to continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices, including to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management; within the Group in light of the

evolving operating environment and regulatory requirements.

The Group has adopted appropriate policies and practices on
corporate governance and the Board would make recommendations
to the Group by reviewing the operation of the Group from time to
time. The Group has adopted a code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to its employees and directors. The Board
confirmed that the Group has complied with the legal and
regulatory requirements and ensures the Group’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure regarding corporate governance.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company believes that the diversity of board members will be
beneficial to the Company. Therefore, the Company has taken on
the Board Diversity Policy of the Board of Directors, ensuring that
the Company will consider the diversity of board members in a
number of ways when setting up the Board, including gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnic, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and service tenure. All appointments to the Board
are based on the principle of meritocracy.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
whereby the Company may pay dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by means of cash or shares. Any dividend distribution shall
be in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company and shall be distributed in a continuous, stable and
sustainable nature. The proposal to pay any dividend depends on the
dividend
announcement is subject to the approval of the shareholders before
it can be implemented. In making any dividend payment, the board
shall also consider:

absolute discretion of the Board, and any final

1. Retained surpluses and distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

2. The Group’s operating capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

3. The Group’s liquidity position;

4.  the overall economic situation, the business cycle of the Group’s
business and the possible impact on the Company’s business,
the internal or external factors that make up the impact of
financial performance and positioning; and

5. Other factors that the Board considers relevant.

Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
guarantee that dividends will be presented or announced at any
given time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan (“Mr. Li"), is responsible
to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. Mr. Li has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company since 5th
November, 2008. Mr. Li is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and facilitating the professional development of
the directors.

Mr. Li confirmed that he has complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements under Rule 3.28
and Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ rights and all
shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to the Articles
of Association of the Company, any shareholder entitled to receive
notice of and to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to
attend and vote instead of him.

Chairmen of the various Board committees, or failing the Chairmen,
any member from the respective committees, must attend the
annual general meetings of the Company to address shareholders’
queries. External auditor shall also be invited to attend the
Company’s annual general meetings and are available to assist the
Directors in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their
auditor’s report.

RIGHT TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUT FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of the
Company which as at that date carries the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries can be in writing and sent for the attention of the
Company Secretary in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CNNC International Limited
Unit 3009, 30th Floor
No. 118 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong
By facsimile: (852) 2598 1010
By email: info@cnncintl.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company regards high quality reporting as an essential element
The
Company always endeavour to provide relevant information to

in building successful relationships with its shareholders.

existing and potential investors, not only to comply with the
different requirements in force but also to enhance transparency
and communications with shareholders and the investing public.
Regular and publicly available disclosures about important issues,
including performance, fundamental business strategy, governance
and the management of risk are made through various channels:

the Company’s annual general meeting;

o interim and annual results announcements published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

o interim and annual reports of the Company delivered to all
shareholders;

o timely update of the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

. meeting with shareholders;
. circulars and letters to shareholders; and

. prompt news releases and announcements regarding major
corporate actions and business initiatives.

The Company maintains a website at www.cnncintl.com where the
reports,
business developments, press releases and other information are

Company’s announcements, circulars, notices, financial

posted.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

The Company is committed to ensuring that it is in full compliance
with disclosure obligations stipulated under the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations, and that all shareholders and
potential investors of the Company have an equal opportunity to
receive and obtain externally available information that is released by
the Group.

The Company always welcome shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time address their
concerns to the Company by mail to the Company’s principal office
in Hong Kong at Office Unit 3009, 30th Floor, No. 118 Connaught
Road West, Hong Kong, or email to info@cnncintl.com.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
substantially separate issues. The chairman of the 2022 EGM and
chairman/members of the Board committees had attended the 2022
With the
assistance of the company secretary, the chairman of the meeting

EGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

had explained the procedures for conducting a poll voting during
the meeting.

There was no significant change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year.
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HER B EEA %

¢ DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD, EER BRZEET HNE
o = o [ RO NNy
¢ AUDIT, REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION EEkiRZEETEEEER
j— -
5 COMMITTEES’ MEETINGS, GENERAL KEZHFLH
% MEETING
S
- Annual
3 Regular Audit Remuneration Nomination General
€ Board Committee Committee  Committee Meeting
E Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting (Note)
g E¥R BHE8E FHEEE REZ88  REES
= EHER = = =L XE (zF)
S Total number of meetings held AEERNBIZEF 4 3 1 1 N/A
i during the Year By TEA
z
& Number of meetings attended: FrtEgRRE:
Chairman and Non-executive Director EEEFHITES
Mr. Zhong Jie BAREE 4 (100%) N/A N/A 1 (100%) N/A
Ti#EA Ti#EA TEA
Chief Executive Officer and THARZEHTES
Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yi RELE 4 (100%) N/A 1 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A
TER TEA
Non-executive Director FRITEE
Mr. Wu Ge RXREE 4 (100%) 2 (67%) 1 (100%) N/A N/A
i@ TEA
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITES
Mr. Cui Liguo B 4(100%) 3 (100%) 1(100%) 1 (100%) N/A
TEA
Mr. Zhang Lei RERE 4 (100%) 3 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A
TEA
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi BRIAE K E 4 (100%) 3 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A
TiEA
Note: 2021 Annual General Meetings was postponed as the 2020 audited account was not available B T -FREBFASLCH BAITEESERNH_-T

for approval. ZTFEERER -
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In accordance with the Group’s development strategy, the Group has
established a risk management system covering all the business
segments to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the
Group’s business activities.

The risk management system of the Group is established in line with
the global standard including the management of each business
unit, the risk management function of the Group and the internal
audit function.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined
how much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group's
strategic objectives. The Group has also prepared a Risk
Management Policy based on the above risk and conduct regular
review of operational and financial risks as reported by each
business unit. Each business unit is required to identify risks on a
day-to-day basis, to report any major risk to the Group.

Based on the risk profile of each business unit, and take into
account the management control and corporate oversight at Group's
level, the Audit Committee and Internal Audit would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year.

The Board establishes or renews financial and credit facilities and
undertakes financial and credit transactions in accordance with the
financial policy of the Group.

FINANCIAL RISK
(1) Interest rate risk

The Group's working capital and fixed assets investment, apart
from internal funds, rely on bank financing and issue of
convertible bonds. All convertible bonds were fully redeemed
by 2013. As at 31st December, 2021, the Group did not have
bank borrowings (at 31st December, 2020: approximately
HK$282,125,000), of which approximately nil (at 31st
December, 2020: approximately HK$253,761,000) was being
utilized to fund the expansion of the Group'’s business trading
activities, and no bank borrowing (at 31st December, 2020:
approximately HK$285,013,000) was being utilized to fund the
equity investment of CNNC Leasing. The bank borrowings
were fully repaid during the year and was replaced by a
shareholder loan of approximately HK$230,000,000. During the
Year, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at a
premium over Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or London
Interbank Offered Rate or prevailing lending rate quoted by
the People’s Bank of China, as appropriate, which is ranged
from 2.48% to 2.65% per annum. The fluctuation of the
lending interest rates could have substantial effect to the
Group's finance costs.
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Risk Management (ontines

ERERE @«

(2)

(3)

Currency risk

The Group’s currencies are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar ("HKD"), Renminbi (“RMB"), Mongolian Tugrigs ("MT")
and United States dollar (“USD").
statements of the Group are presented in HKD. However, the
the
functional currency of the Group is set in USD. The Group has
to assess the fluctuations of the exchange rates of USD
against HKD, RMB and MT.

The consolidated financial

income of the Group is mainly in USD, therefore,

(A) USD vs HKD
HKD has a linked exchange rate system with USD. The
exchange rate has been kept for many years. Therefore
the
Group needs to consider the effect if the system is

the risk in this area is relatively small. However,
removed. Nevertheless, the Group’s income and payment
to foreign suppliers are in USD which can compensate
the exchange risk should the system is removed.

(B) USD vs RMB
The Group has established an office in Shenzhen, its
expenses are paid in RMB. In 2021, the exchange rate of
RMB increased about 2.4% against USD. The annual
budget of Shenzhen office is approximately
HK$8,000,000. The exchange rate risk effect in RMB is
insignificant to the Group.

(C) USD vs MT
The exchange rate of MT against USD maintained

in 2021. The
December 2021 in Mongolia was approximately 9.5%.

roughly the same inflation rate in
The bank deposit of Mongolian project is mainly in USD.
in MT.

Therefore, the fluctuation of exchange rate of USD

The Mongolia office settles its expenses
against MT did not have much negative effect to the
Group in 2021. The fixed assets of Mongolian project are
recorded in USD,
exchange rate. The amounts of payables and receivables

so there has been little effect in

of Mongolian project which are denominated in MT are
relatively small, so as the exchange rate risk in this area.

Counterparty exchange rate risk

The buying and selling of natural uranium transactions of the
Group are denominated in USD, therefore the Group does not
have any risk in foreign currency exchange in business
transactions.

(2)

(3)
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OPERATIONAL RISK

(1

(2)

Concentration risk

Currently, the income of the Group is derived from the natural
the
production of Somina’s uranium mine has been suspended and

uranium products trade. Of the projects in hand,
the mine is under maintenance care; the Mongolian uranium
project is still at the stage of application of mining license, no

products will be available in the near future.

The Group intends to focus on and will continue to devote to
the development of the uranium products trading business,
and will diversity its trading activities into different markets
worldwide. To cooperate with the business development of its
holding company, the Group will look for opportunities to
expand its business activities. The Group will also participate in
the natural uranium market events to obtain latest market
information and enlarge the suppliers and customers list,
avoiding the reliance on a small number of trading partners.

The Group has completed its investment in CNNC Leasing on
26th February, 2019 and CNNC Leasing would distribute no
less than 90% profit as dividends to the Group which would
have positive contributions to the cashflow of the Group.

Credit risk

The Group mainly confronted with credit risk resulting from
trade debtors that arising from sale of goods to customers.
The Group established credit policies and procedures to
analyse and identify the credit risks, set appropriate credit
limits and controls, monitor the risks on timely basis by means
of reliable management information systems. The Group
performs regular updates to enhance the credit policies in
order to cope with the changes in markets and practice of
credit risk management.

Individual credit assessments are performed on customers to
determine the applicable credit limits and terms. Regular
review on credit limits and terms are performed in order to
ensure those are comparable to the credit standing of

customers and the latest business environments.
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Profiles of Directors and Semor Management '
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhong Jie, aged 60, was appointed as Non-Executive Director of
the Company and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 4th
May, 2020. He joined China Nuclear Engineering Company (4 B 4%
T2 A]) ("CNEC”) in 1989 as engineer. He was transferred to
China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation (FFEBIR FEET 2B R A
A]) (“CNEIC") in 1991 and worked as engineer, deputy director of
nuclear power, deputy director, director (manager), assistant general
manager and deputy general manager of third import and import
department. Mr. Zhong was transferred to China National Uranium
Corp., Ltd (FEI##HZEABRAF) ("CNUC”) in 2019 as general
manager and vice secretary of Party Leadership Group, and became
also deputy director and vice secretary of Party Leadership Group of
China Nuclear Geology (R BI#Z T##E F) (“CNG"). In April 2020,
he was appointed as member of Strategy and Management Advisory
Committee of China National Nuclear Corporation (FEI#% T ¥ £ &
B R 2 7)) ("CNNC"), the ultimate holding company of the
Company. CNEC, CNEIC, CNUC and CNG are subsidiaries of CNNC.
Mr. Zhong graduated from Tsinghua University (&% A 2) with a
doctor degree in mechanic in 1989. He was qualified as a senior
engineer in the PRC.

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 39, was appointed as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 4th May, 2020. He joined CNUC in 2007
and his roles included external affairs, secretarial, project
management, deputy director of the central administration
department, supervisor of the legal and audit department and vice
chief legal adviser. Mr. Zhang was transferred to the Geology and
Mining Division of CNNC in the overseas development sector in
2012, and was in charge of legal affairs and overseas development
projects. Mr. Zhang joined the Central Planning Department of the
Company in 2013, and worked as deputy manager, manager in legal
affairs, overseas development and administration works. He joined
CNUC as manager in 2017 in overseas development department. In
April 2019, he was appointed as general manager and director of
CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding Limited (Ff#/8 4N h 2R AR A
Al) ("COUH"), the immediate holding company of the Company. In
2020, Mr. Zhang ceased to be general manager of COUH, but
remains as director of COUH. In January 2021, Mr. Zhang becomes
general manager of Overseas Uranium Business Division of CNUC.
Mr. Zhang is also a director of CNUC (HK) Mining Corp., Limited (/B
B EEB)EEAR R A) ("CNUCHK”) and Réssing Uranium
Limited (“RUL"). CNUC, the Company, COUH, CNUCHK and RUL are
subsidiaries of CNNC. Mr. Zhang graduated from China Youth
University of Political Studies (Bl & & BUa2 k), department of
social work and management, with a bachelor degree in
management in 2004. Mr. Zhang also graduated from Peking
University Law School (3t R KE7E52F) with a master degree in law
in 2007. He was qualified as an enterprise legal adviser and holds
professional qualification in law in the PRC.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Ge, aged 35, was appointed as Non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from 4th May, 2020. He joined CNNC
Northern Uranium Co., Ltd (FHZIL5 #ZE B R A F]) (“CNNCNU") in
2010 as head of accounting department and assistant director.
Mr. Wu was transferred to CNUC in 2017 as head of accounting
and assistant director in the finance and capital management
department. CNNCNU and CNUC are subsidiaries of CNNC. Mr. Wu
graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (&1t
B 48 K 2) with a bachelor degree in accounting in 2010. He was
qualified as an accountant in the PRC.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cui Liguo, aged 52, is currently a founding partner of Guantao
Law Firm which is a law firm in Beijing, PRC and the Chairman of
its Management Committee. He has over 25 years of experience in
legal sector, and holds independent directorship in the board of
directors of several companies, such as APT Satellite Holdings Ltd. (a
corporation listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01045),
Frontier Services Group Limited (a corporation listed on the Stock
00500),
Industry Co., Ltd. (a corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600380), China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd. (a
corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:

Exchange, stock code: Joincare Pharmaceutical Group

601918), Essence Securities Co., Ltd., and Beijing Life Insurance Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Cui graduated from the China University of Political Science
and Law with a bachelor degree in laws in 1991. He also holds a
master degree in laws from the same university.

Mr. Zhang Lei, aged 53, joined Hainan International Trust and
Investment Corporation in 1994. He used to be the trading manager
of the Beijing sales department. In the same year, he was certified
as a trader and liquidator by Beijing Securities Exchange Center.
According to the requirements of the People’s Bank of China, it was
restructured into Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd in 1996, and then
obtained the qualification of securities underwriting and fund
trading issued by the Securities Association of China. He served
successively as deputy General Manager of Beijing Fuchengmen Sales
Department of Great Wall Securities Co., LTD., Deputy General
Manager of Beijing Fengtai Haiying Road Sales Department, General
Manager of Beijing Tonghu Street Sales Department of Tongzhou
City, general Manager assistant of Beijing Haidian Zhongguancun
Sales Department. Mr. Zhang graduated from Renmin University of
China in 1996, majoring in business and economic management. He
has accumulated more than 26 years of experience in the securities
industry.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management e =
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Mr. Chan Yee Hoi,
banking, corporate finance, capital markets, direct investment, asset

aged 73, has over 40 years’ experience in
management and financial management. Since 2013, Mr. Chan has
been an independent non-executive director of Hong Fok Land
International Limited, an unlisted public company incorporated in
Hong Kong, which is principally engaged in property development
business. Prior to Mr. Chan’s retirement in 2019, he had worked
with various American banks in Hong Kong, investment banks,
corporate finance advisory,
companies and had gained substantial financial
expertise. Between 2004 and 2015, he served as an independent

securities and fund management
management

non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of
Winfoong International Limited (its name was changed to China
Graphene Group Limited in 2016), a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), which was principally engaged in property management
and horticultural services. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Social Science degree in 1971, and
was a licensed representative licensed under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance to engage in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts) and

type 9 (asset management) regulated activities.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan, aged 63,
Company. Mr. Li joined the Company in November 2008. He had

is the Company Secretary of the

over 35 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial

management. Mr. Li is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Li is
a graduate of Imperial College London and holds a Bachelor of

Science degree.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and a joint
operation are set out in notes 16, 18 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. The market and business review are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 70.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$150,370,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this report were:

Chairman and non-executive director
Mr. Zhong Jie

Executive director
Mr. Zhang Yi

Non-executive director
Mr. Wu Ge

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cui Liguo
Mr. Zhang Lei
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Zhong Jie, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Wu Ge, Mr. Cui Liguo,
Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Chan Yee Hoi will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Zhang Lei had entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing 11th
November, 2020. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 9th
March, 2020. Mr. Zhang Yi has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 4th May, 2020.
Upon agreement of both parties the abovementioned service
contracts shall continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less than three months prior written
notice.

Mr. Zhong Jie signed a non-executive director service contract with
the Company with retrospective effect to 4th May, 2020 for a
period of 3 years on 18th March, 2022. Upon agreement of both
parties the abovementioned service contract shall continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving to the other party not less
than three months prior written notice.

Mr. Wu Ge signed a non-executive director service contract with the
Company with retrospective effect to 4th May, 2020 for a period of
3 years on 18th March, 2022. Upon agreement of both parties the
abovementioned service contract shall continue thereafter u Until
terminated by either party giving to the other party not less than
one month prior written notice.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31st December, 2021, none of the directors nor their associates
had any shares or underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme adopted on 11th December, 2002 (2002
11th
December, 2012. A new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 3rd June, 2013 (2013 Share Option Scheme”) and its
particulars are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

Share Option Scheme”) was expired and terminated on

statements. No share option had been granted under the 2002
Share Option Scheme and 2013 Share Option Scheme since their
adoption. The purpose of the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the
2013 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group and to promote

the success of the business of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE
OPTIONS” above, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31st December, 2021, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital of
the Company.

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

EERE
R-ZE-—F+_-_A=+—8 KRQ#RE
BERPEEOEBETFEZEIEREE
EMER UTREEMNEARARRARF
EETRATREBEBAERS AR -

¥
FLAEBREBEEF0.OITZEER

Percentage of
Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
FifsE 8T HXATSB{T

% R & 78 5% LEREE BRAEFSEH

CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding Limited Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

("CNNC Overseas”) (Note)

PiZBNAEEREBER AR ([HRZEH]) () NEER

China National Uranium Co., Ltd. (“CNUC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

hEMEAR LA (A EHED () NEER

China National Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

hERZTEEEAERAF(HEER]) ) 7] B

CNNC Overseas is the immediate holding company of the Company, which is wholly owned
by CNUC, whereas CNUC is a subsidiary of CNNC.

Note:

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2021.

PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
shares.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals.
Information about major customers is disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group’s purchases were made
from a number of suppliers. The Group intends to seek and
negotiate with major uranium product traders in the market with a
view to expand its supplier and customer base. So far as the
directors are aware, at no time during the Year have the directors,
their close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the major suppliers and

the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%

customers of the Group.

The Company creates a framework for motivating staff and an

formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy

relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group is
engaged in uranium resources business and one of its main
objectives is to become an environment friendly corporation.
Minimizing in consumption of resources and adopt of environmental
best practices across the Group’s businesses are the commitment of
the Group to conserve and improve the environment. The Group
shall make every endeavour to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste

reduction.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with the requirements under
the Companies Law (Revised) under the laws of Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the SFO under the laws
of Hong Kong. The subsidiaries in Mongolia are also committed to
complying with the requirements under the Law of Mongolia.

The Company has compiled with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as set out in
Chapter 13 throughout the Year, except that the Company was not
able to (i) issue the audited results of the Group for the 2020 Year
and 2021 Year, (i) dispatch the annual report for the 2020 Year
and 2021 Year; and (iii) convene the 2021 annual general meeting
of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company, or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the Year,
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of
the subsidiaries of the Company.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

The following circumstances giving rise to the obligations of
disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules continue to

exist after the year ended 31st December, 2021.

(1) Terms used herein have the same meaning as those defined in
the announcement made by the Company on 19th August,
2019 pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules. In March
2019, China Nuclear International Corporation as the borrower
(the “"Borrower”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, accepted the terms of a general banking facility of
a banking institution for trade finance in the amount of up to
US$30,000,000 (the Utilization of the
Facility is conditional upon the prior approval of the bank, and

"Revised Facility”).

each drawdown is repayable within 180 days.

Pursuant to the Facility, among other matters, the Company
and the Borrower undertake and procure with the bank that,
throughout the life of the Facility: (i) The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council (the “SASAC") of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") shall maintain directly 100% equity interest in China
("CNNC"); (ii) CNNC shall
maintain (directly or indirectly) 100% equity interest in China

National Nuclear Corporation
National Uranium Co., Ltd, a company incorporated in the PRC
which had provided a letter of comfort in relation to the
Revised Facility; and (iii) CNNC shall maintain (directly or
indirectly) not less than 51% equity interest in the Company.
As at 31st March, 2021, the Company was owned as to
approximately 66.72% by CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which
is wholly-owned by the SASAC).
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2019, China Nuclear International

“Borrower”) as the borrower,

On 2nd September,
Corporation (the a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC International Limited (the
“Company”), entered into a general banking facility agreement
with a banking institution for the purchase of electronic
components or other goods acceptable to the bank for its
trading business in the amount of up to US$30,000,000 (the
“Facility”). The Facility is uncommitted facility and available
commitment may be cancelled by the bank at any time. Each

drawdown is repayable within 60 days.

Pursuant to the Facility, among other matters, early repayment
of the Facility may be required (together with interests accrued
thereon and other amounts payable thereunder) if China
National Nuclear Corporation (FE & T ¥ £ B AR A7)
(“CNNC") ceases to be the major shareholder and beneficially
own (directly or indirectly) at least 66.72% of the issued share
capital of the Company except for the prior written consent
from the bank, such consent not be unreasonably withheld. As
at the date of this annual report, the Company is owned as to
approximately 66.72% by CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which
is wholly owned by The State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (B #%Bz B &
BEEBEEEZEE) of the People’s Republic of China).

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31st December 2021 were audited by BDO Limited. A
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhong lJie

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9th September, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CNNC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNNC
International Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 70 to 179, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st December,
2021
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

and of its consolidated financial performance and its
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As described in the Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had commenced the supply chain business (as defined in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements) as one of its
principal activities through the trading of electronics products
(“Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals (“Dispersed
Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis. Goods were arranged to
be delivered to the Group’s warehouses by suppliers, certain of
whom were noted to be introduced by customers, for customers’
collections within an agreed timeframe.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continvea
As further
statements,

disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
the Group entered into several sale and purchase
transactions of electronics products with two customers (“Two
Customers”) and three suppliers (“Three Suppliers”) during October
2019 to February 2020. As at 31st December, 2019 and 1st
January, 2020, there were inventories amounting to HK$40,820,000
awaiting collection by the Two Customers and contract liabilities
amounting to HK$8,018,000
corresponding to these inventories. In early 2020, goods costing
HK$11,589,000 and customer’'s deposits of HK$5,370,000 were
further received by the Group and awaiting collection by the Two
with a total cost of HK$52,409,000,

were not collected by the Two Customers within the

representing customers’ deposits

Customers. These goods,
however,
agreed timeframe. During an inventory inspection exercise,
management noted that certain samples of the uncollected goods
might have quality issues. Further to the communication with one of
the Two Customers, management suspected that the intermediate
supplier and intermediate customer in one transaction chain might
be controlled by the same parties. The management resolved to and
subsequently identified and engaged a recognised independent
electronic component testing institution to carry out testing of those
The

resultant testing reports revealed that these inventories were found

inventories between December 2020 and February 2021.
to include a mix of substandard, refurbished or counterfeit goods
("Problematic Goods”). Management of the Company determined to
write-down these Problematic Goods costing HK$52,409,000 in full
as expense and forfeited the deposits received of HK$13,388,000 as
revenue to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December, 2020.
As of the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Problematic Goods still remain in the Group’s

warehouse.

The above incidents raised our concerns as to the reason for the
occurrence of the transactions related to the Problematic Goods
being supplied by three different suppliers which were introduced by
the Two Customers; and the relationships between the intermediate
suppliers and intermediate customers. Furthermore, it was noted that
the Dispersed Metals Business was also managed by the same
management team and was carried out in a similar manner and
These
circumstances led us to question the nature, business rationale and

trading terms as the Electronics Products Business.
commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the

supply chain business.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (ontinved)

We have communicated our concerns to the board of directors (“the
Board”) during our audit for the financial year ended 31st
December, 2020 and requested explanations as to how our
concerns are considered in the determination of the accounting
treatments and related disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2020. However, we
have not received sufficient information and explanations from the
Board that could satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business
rationale and commercial substance of the transactions carried out
under the supply chain business.

Based on the above, we issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 as we were unable to perform sufficient audit
procedures to satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business rationale
and commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business and, as a consequence, we were unable to
ascertain whether the transactions carried out under the supply
chain business were fairly stated and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020. These includes:

—  revenue of HK$999,476,000, cost of sales of HK$1,026,211,000
(including the write-down of inventory of HK$52,409,000) and
other income of HK$2,277,000 recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December, 2020;

— inventories of HK$nil, trade receivables of HK$29,305,000, bills
payables of HK$nil and contract liabilities of HK$nil as at 31st
December, 2020; and

—  the related cashflows and disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, as described in the
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the supply chain
business were suspended with the last sale transaction entered into
in late 2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021. Because of this,
the results of the supply chain business are presented as
discontinued operation and the Group has recognised a profit for
the year from discontinued operation of HK$1,767,000 during the
year ended 31st December, 2021. The comparative information of
the results of the supply chain business for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 are re-presented as discontinued operation.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (ontinved)

However, since the abovementioned limitation of scope remains
unresolved during the audit for the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2021, we were unable to
determine whether the profit for the year from discontinued
operation of HK$1,767,000 during the year ended 31st December,
2021, the loss for the year from discontinued operation of
HK$36,506,000 during the year ended 31st December, 2020 and the
related disclosures relating to the discontinued operation are fairly
stated. Any adjustments to the profit for the year from discontinued
operation for the year ended 31st December, 2021, the loss for the
year from discontinued operation for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 and the related disclosures found necessary might
have consequential impact on the financial performance for the
and 2020 and the related
disclosures in these financial statements.

years ended 371st December, 2021

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st December, 2021 is also modified because of the
possible effects of the abovementioned matter on the comparability
of the current year’s figures and the corresponding figures for the
year ended 31st December, 2020 in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial

under those standards are further described

Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion”
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business rationale and
commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business; and whether the transactions carried out
under the supply chain business were fairly stated and properly
accounted for. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or
not the other information is materially misstated with respect to this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

judgement, were of most significance in our

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
“Basis for

matters. In addition to the matter described in the

Qualified Opinion” section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in

our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on the interest in an
associate

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the
significant accounting policies in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The key audit matter

The Group has 11.36% equity interest in an associate, CNNC
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”), which is a
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. As at 37st
December, 2021, the interest in CNNC Leasing held by the Group is
approximately HK$456,076,000.

Following a review of the business, by considering the outlook for
the industry and the market conditions with the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic, there is a risk of impairment in respect of the
interest in an associate; management has carried out the impairment
assessment on the interest in an associate.

We considered this a key audit matter because this involves a
significant degree of management judgement in respect of the
valuation methods and assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in CNNC Leasing.

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on the
interest in an associate included:

— We have reviewed the management’'s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and understand and assess the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions used in the
valuation model to estimate the recoverable amount of the
associate.

—  We have discussed and assessed the indicators of possible
impairment with the management and the component auditors
and, where such indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

—  We have assessed the valuation methodology and compared
significant inputs to third party sources.

—  We have also understood and assessed the key assumptions and
critical judgement used by the management based on our
knowledge of the business and industry.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
misstatement,

financial statements that are free from material

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists
the directors of the Company in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
in accordance with the terms of our

to you, as a body,

engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (onines
BYBHMBE @

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report ey

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors of the Company,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when,

in extremely rare

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate Number P05309

Hong Kong
9th September, 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERsREMZERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 #HZE=ZZT =

o ey RN

2021 2020
—E-—% —E_TF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 EETT BT T
(Re-presented)
(F&=7%)
Continuing operations FHBEEER
Revenue WA 5 280,639 662,994
Cost of sales FizR==I N (260,029) (649,981)
Gross profit E 7 20,610 13,013
Other income and gains and losses b g A R W as IA &
& 18 7 3,240 2,120
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in R {E & — B & QA
an associate m = 2 W — 24,999
Net exchange gains FE I E 892 247
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (639) (1,459)
Administrative expenses TR X (26,255) (15,463)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #1% - B E k& HH
equipment REEE — (11,459)
Share of result of an associate JE(EBE & NAEE 16 15,065 (4,140)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 8 (9,834) (14,896)
Profit (loss) before tax B B AT m A (E538) 9 3,079 (7,038)
Income tax expenses FTis®iA X 10 (2,457) (2,553)
Profit (loss) for the year SEREXBNENR
from continuing operations i Al (E518) 622 (9,591)
Discontinued operation RIEEE TS
Profit (loss) for the year BRI EERR
from discontinued operation F A A (EiE) 11 1,767 (36,506)
Profit (loss) for the year FREF (BHE) 2,389 (46,097)
Other comprehensive income Hit Z2EE AN
Items that maybe reclassified subsequently B &2, @ E 3 8=
to profit or loss: EmoHE -
Exchange differences arising on REBIINEBRIEE
translation of foreign operations e 53 = a8 577 3,887
Share of exchange difference of i /NI E
an associate ZENR =% 22,622 22,428
Release of translation reserve upon RAE & — B2
deemed disposal of an associate NG A R — (6,073)
Other comprehensive income for the year & /£ b & W A 23,199 20,242
Total comprehensive income (expense) KRalEE AEHFR
for the year attributable to owners of 2EWA(FX) 2%
the Company 25,588 (25,855)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share & % 5 2 # & 2 7| 13
(E1HE)
— Continuing operations — BEKREER HKO0.1 cents HK(2.0) cents
A& #50.110 5 15(2.0)1L
— Discontinued operation —RIEEEET HKO0.4 cents HK(7.4) cents
7 ¥0.411 75 ¥ (7. 410
HKO.5 cents HK%Q.A) cents
7 %0.511l 75 ¥ (9.4) 1L




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
o BRRE 7]

At 31st December, 2021 RZZE=_—F+=-—A=+—H
2021 2020
—¥-—%F —T_TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERHE 14 345 151
Exploration and evaluation assets PR R EEE 15 — —
Interests in associates YR AN Do 16 456,076 433,394
Right-of-use asset FERAEEE 17 — 222
456,421 433,767
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 19 682 3,803
Trade and other receivables and JEWE 5 IR &
prepayments Hth U R IE LA K&
FE IR 20 14,714 30,346
Prepaid tax ICENEEN 229 172
Restricted cash X PR &R & 21 — 5,433
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIRE 21 120,625 144,333
136,250 184,087
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables and accruals H h fE A
FRIB LA K B BT R R 22 23,600 21,592
Bank borrowing RITIE 23 — 282,125
Lease liability MEBE 24 — 228
Amount due to immediate holding JES E E IR A A
company A 32(a) 232 —
Amount due to an intermediate holding & — & /A /12 A%
company N AEIFRIE 32(a) 1,903 1,892
Amount due to ultimate holding JER & EAERR A A
company KIE 32(a) 1,977 1,977
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE < [R) & % Bt BB 2 &
IE 32(a) — 140
Loan from immediate holding company K& B EEKR A 7
& 32(b) 12,000 — i
Income tax payable FETPRSHE 304 833
40,016 308,787 ﬁ
Net current assets (liabilities) REBEE(EME) FE 96,234 (124,700) E
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRDAR 552,655 309,067 =
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ontinea

BEMBRRE @

At 31st December, 2021 R-ZT-_—F+_-_HA=+—H

2021 2020
—¥-—%F —T_TF
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 EETRT BT T
Non-current liability EREEE
Loan from immediate holding company R B B #Z & Q7]
BB R 32(b) 218,000 —
Net assets BEEEE 334,655 309,067
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital f% 7 25 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves IR A0 B R 26 329,763 304,175
Equity attributable to owners EATHBANELER
of the Company 334,655 309,067
The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 179 were S70R179B G AP KBHERERN T - =

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 9th
September, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhong lJie
DIRECTOR
EF

FAANBEHESRIERKERL - I
BHTIEEREEE:

Zhang Yi
5 &
DIRECTOR
EE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERZEER

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HILt&FE
Non-
Share Share Capital distributable ~ Merger ~ Statutory Translation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
T4k
k& RHEE EXHEE fiE  AHEE EERE EREE  RHER L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETr A%t A¥Trn A%t A%t E%Tr E¥Tr A%t A%
(Note 25)  (Note 26)  (Note 26)  (Note 26)  (Note 26)  (Note 26)  (Note 26)
(Wi2s)  (Mik2e)  (Wikae)  (Wste)  (Wistze)  (Mritae)  (Mtike)
At 1st January, 2020 W-Z2-%%-F-8 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 635 1,157 (638,105) 334,922
Loss for the year FREE - - - - — — — (46,097)  (46,097)
Exchange differences arising on translation AERELZEXES — — — — — — 3,887 — 3,887
Share of exchange difference of EEHENRZERZER
an associate — — — — — — 22,428 — 22,428
Release of translation reserve upon deemed 1 fE & — R85 & 1 5B 8 F
disposal of an associate EHkEE - - - - - - (6,073) — (6,073)
Total comprehensive expense ENZERXAE
for the year — — — — — — 20,242 (46,097) (25,855)
At 31st December, 2020 R-B-F£+-A=+-8 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 635 21,399 (684,202) 309,067
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - - - 2,389 2,389
Exchange differences arising on translation A EELHHREEE - - - - - - 577 - 571
Share of exchange difference of an BEHENRZELAZE
associate - — — - — — 22,622 - 22,622
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FRZ2EUANLE - - — - - — 23,199 2,389 25,588
Transfer of profits to statutory reserve ERRNEEERE - - - - - 92 - (92) -
At 31st December, 2021 R-E--£+-A=+-8 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 721 44,598 (681,905) 334,655
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

BT A=t -BLEE

2021 2020
—TF-—f§ —ZE-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT ST T
(Re-presented)
(BE7)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K EE)
Profit (loss) before tax ¥ 4B 18 = F 7% B0 B B A O A
from continuing operations (EEET ) 3,079 (7,038)
Profit (loss) before tax IR E R E TSR BR T AT
from discontinued operation gl (EES?E) 1,899 (35,199)
Profit (loss) before tax B B A m A (E538) 4,978 (42,237)
Adjustments for: AR
Depreciation of property, plant and W WERBEBITE
equipment 95 992
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FTREEENE 111 334
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BMERREZEBIE
equipment — 96
Amortisation of loan front-end fee ERATHE R EE 3,372 2,939
Write-down of inventories T B MOm —_ 52,409
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BEREZHED
equipment BEEBE — 11,459
Share of result of an associate JEAEE & AR XA (15,065) 4,140
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in BRRKHE M E A Aa RN
an associate U %5 — (24,999)
Interest on bank borrowings RITERF B 5,413 13,738
Interest on loan from immediate holding EEZERARERHNF &
company 1,047 —
Interest on lease liability HESENE 2 16
Interest income from overdue trade aHAE W E 5 BR K
receivables B U A (1,101) (2,277)
Interest income from banks RITHF B A (825) (410)
Operating cash flows before movements LEBEESEEAIZEE
in working capital (1,973) 16,200
Decrease in inventories ReEREFERD 3,128 284,609
Decrease in trade and other receivables and JEULE 5 BR 7k Kz E 4th JiE U 2008 LA
prepayments T8 A FRIE R 31,185 231,928
Increase (decrease) in trade, bills and ENE SRR EEREMER
other payables and accruals FRIE A M FE T R RIS 0 O 2) 1,555 (226,866)
Increase in amount due to immediate JE S B B A% R B 3R IE B 0
holding company 232 —
Decrease in contract liabilities AHaER > — (25,617)
Net cash generated from operations REKE 2 RE 34,127 280,254
Income tax paid X 18 (3,176) (2,299)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING HREAKEEFH 2R T
ACTIVITIES 30,951 277,955




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (onines
SERERER @ 75

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE
2021 2020
—E-—%F —E-THE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
(Re-presented)
(e E5)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®EEE
Release of restricted cash 7 bR 2 BR H IR & 5,433 13,571
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE Y% « W E K& H (281) (280)
Interest received from banks B U ER 1T R B 825 410
Interest received from overdue trade BHEWE FEREAAN

receivables s HSZ)\ 1,101 2,277
Dividend received from an associate B Uk — fE B & N B A B — 23,300
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING REREEF 2R FHE

ACTIVITIES 7,078 39,278

FINANCING ACTIVITIES [ =)
New bank borrowings raised IR ITE R — 332,133
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIRITER (285,497) (595,876)
Interest paid XA F B (5,476) (13,839)
New borrowing from immediate holding KRB HZEIZER R A2 ¥ E XK

company 230,000 —
(Repayment to) advance from (1 —&& &7 &)

a joint operator KE—ZEE HZ@%& (644) 2,324
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries EERRKMER G 2 B®K (140) —
Interest elements of lease rental paid ENHEERES E’Jﬂ JoN=1%2) (2) (16)
Capital elements of lease rental paid ENEEHSNE RIS (117) (331)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES FA{ERL & E S~ IR & F 5 (61,876) (275,605)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND 3R & RIBE£ZEW Gl 4) 180

CASH EQUIVALENTS FRE (23,847) 41,628
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BRERREEFEEYD

AT 1ST JANUARY 144,333 100,543
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE INEEREE) 2 5

CHANGES 139 2,162
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RekReFEUN

AT 31ST DECEMBER, represented t=—A=+—H

by bank balances and cash HIRITESR LR AKX 120,625 144,333 B
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
General information

CNNC International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company’s immediate holding company is CNNC Overseas
Uranium Holding Limited (“CNNC Overseas”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Company’s intermediate
holding company and ultimate holding company are China
National Uranium Co., Ltd. and FEZTHXSEBER A F
(China National Nuclear Corporation “CNNC"), a state-owned
entity in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
respectively.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint operation are
set out in Notes 34, 16 and 18 respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") for the convenience
of the shareholders, as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
unless otherwise indicated.

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)

In 2018, the Group had commenced the supply chain business
as one of its principal activities through trading of electronics
products (“Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals
("Dispersed Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis which
was managed under essentially the same management team.
Goods were arranged to be delivered to the Group’s
warehouses by suppliers, certain of whom were noted to be
introduced by customers, for customers’ collections within an
agreed timeframe. Both the Electronics Products Business and
Dispersed Metals Business were carried out in a similar manner
and trading terms. Details of the financial information of the
supply chain business segment were set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the period between October 2019 and February 2020,
the Group entered into several transactions of electronics
products with Customers A and B (“Two Customers”) and with
Suppliers X, Y and Z ("Three Suppliers”). As at 31st
December, 2019, there were inventories amounting to
HK$40,820,000 awaiting collection by the Two Customers and
contract liabilities amounting to HK$8,018,000 representing
customers’ deposits corresponding to these inventories. In early
2020, goods costing HK$11,589,000 and customers’ deposits
of HK$5,370,000 were further received by the Group and
awaiting collection by the Two Customers. These goods, with
a total cost of HK$52,409,000, however, were not collected by
the Two Customers within the agreed timeframe. During an
inventory inspection exercise, management noted that certain
samples of the uncollected goods might have quality issues.
Management of the Company resolved to and subsequently
identified and engaged a recognised independent electronic
component testing institution to carry out testing of those
inventories between December 2020 and February 2021. The
resultant testing reports revealed that those inventories were
found to include a mix of substandard, refurbished or
counterfeit goods (“Problematic Goods”). Management of the
Company determined to write-down the Problematic Goods
costing HK$52,409,000 in full as expense and forfeited the
received of HK$13,388,000 as
statement of profit or

deposits revenue to the

consolidated loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
2020. As of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Problematic Goods still remain in the

Group's warehouse.

1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HE=ZZT=—F+-_A=+—RALFE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

In light of the above circumstances, with consultation to its
legal advisor as to its right and obligations under the sales and
purchases contracts, the Group demanded refunds from the
Three Suppliers and pursued the collections by the Two
Customers concerning the Problematic Goods. During this
course, management of the Company noted the following:

i) Customer A had taken legal action against its on-sale
customer and the beneficiary of this on-sale customer for
breach of contracts and discovered relationship between
this on-sale customer and the supplier of Supplier X, who
was introduced by this on-sale customer, that they were
allegedly controlled and owned by the same individuals
("Problematic Purchase 1”); and

i) Supplier Y did not assist the Company to follow-up the
Problematic Goods with its supplier but referred the
Company to the representative of Customer B for the
matters in relation to the Problematic Goods. They are
not responsible for the Problematic Goods. (“Problematic
Purchase 2").

After seeking legal advice and having considered the results of
the laboratory testing reports, management of the Company
considered both Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 might involve
illegal acts perpetrated by the relevant customers and/or
suppliers, and therefore decided to report these suspicious
transactions to the law enforcement agencies in the PRC and
Hong Kong in 2021. However, no investigation was initiated by
these agencies due to lack of sufficient evidence.

With the recommendation of the audit committee (“AC"”) of
the Company, an independent director committee (“IDC"),
comprising all independent non-executive directors, was
established on 28th January, 2022 and the AC and IDC
engaged SHINEWING Financial Advisory Services Limited as the
independent expert (the “Independent Expert”) to perform an
independent review that aims at finding the facts in relation to
the Problematic Purchases and identifying the root cause(s) (the
“Independent Review").

1.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the Independent Review, a number of limitations was
encountered by the Independent Expert. These limitations,
amongst others, included failure of interviewing the customers
and the suppliers of the Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 due to
their non-response to the interview invitations. The scope,
major procedures, findings and limitations of the Independent
Review were set out in the announcement made by the
Company dated 15th August, 2022.

To facilitate the independent
corporate investigation and risk consulting firm was further
engaged to perform background investigations on the
customers and suppliers of the trading of electronics products

Independent Review, an

in the supply chain business and their directors and
shareholders. results of the background
investigations, the Independent Expert concluded that it was
very likely there existed a connection between:

Based on the

(@) the alleged intermediate supplier and the alleged
intermediate customer identified by Customer A in

regards of Problematic Purchase 1; and

(b)  the Supplier Y and Customer B in regard of Problematic
Purchase 2.

Pursuant to the Independent Review report, the root causes
leading to the Problematic Purchases not being prevented and
detected comprised of, amongst others:

(i)  significant internal control weaknesses, in terms of both
the control environment and the implementation;

(i) a lax risk management approach towards the conducts of
the business in favour of business growth having allowed
to persist, coupled with the lack of due care and skills
involved on the part of the operation team where risk
concerns raised and advices given by the risk

management department of the Company were at times

sidestepped and neglected by the operation team; and

(iii) imprudent business planning and design of business
model, which lacked consideration of all business risks

involved.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

The IDC is of the view, which the AC and the management of
the Company concurred, that the combination of system and
human factors was the principal root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases, which together contributed to the
failure on the part of the Company to detect and identify the
Problematic Purchases, and the failed system was then
exploited by the colluded customers and suppliers to conduct
transactions with suspicious commercial rationale through the
Group, leading to the Problematic Purchases.

Having evaluated, among other things, the financial and
inventory risks involved in the supply chain business,
particularly brought to light from incidents of the Problematic
Purchases as set out above, and the uncertainties on the
macro environment attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic,
management of the Company gradually reduced the scale of
the supply chain business in 2020. The supply chain business
was then suspended with the last sale transaction entered into
in late 2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021.

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Adoption of new/amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new/amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the current
year.

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Reform — Phase 2

The new/amendments to HKFRSs that effective from 1st
January, 2021 did not have significant financial impact on the
Group's accounting policies.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2. FER#s] E1E:] & EM
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREEA(EFEVBR
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") continves HEA )

g

New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not E B8 i R £ GBI HET &

yet effective &I EHBMBHREER

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? AR BREER RE4?

F17%

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as %.5,%5 AR BENEEMNES IS
Current or Non-current and EAEACHEY REAREBESR(ZZ
HK Interpretation 5 (2020), ZTE) UBREZE
Presentation of Financial 5 — ERAHEE R
Statements — Classification Eiﬁ EEBRNMTHE
by the Borrower of a Term Fd=oRaR ik

Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand

Clause?
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting BAEGER SHURKERE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies? EVRRERY
BRELEANES
e 208
(EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting B et &R 2HEFAER
Estimates? E85 (1BFT &)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to BAGEA HE-QFEEMEER
Assets and Liabilities Arising FR(BAIER)  BEEABHELEHRE
from a Single Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use? EBGHER 1EHETE A& AT PTG FUE?

Z165 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of EBGHER BEEeH - BTEaNZ
Fulfilling a Contract? %3751?(1'53@ 72

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual EAUBREEL BogrBzRl
Framework® E35 (BT A)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution of EEMBREREN REFRABENANA

and HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor ZN0RREARG ﬁ%zfﬁ VEELE
and its Associate or Joint SRR F285% Iu”j,éf“
Venture? CHEN

Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to FEYERE ERMBREEN_T

HKFRSs 2018-2020? “NFE_Z_FTHFY
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30th June, 2021’ ZR
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2021. 1 BRAR-Z_—FNA—HIZEABENFER
FEﬁ °

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022. 2 BARZZZZF—A—HBRZ2EFABHFER
FEﬁ °

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023. 3 BARZZZ=F—A—HBRZ2EABHFEH
FEﬁ °

4 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets 4 RS AEAE M ERARNETE R &RH

occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. WMZFEHRABEZEELEHRA -

5 Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the 5. HRBAPAR _TE-_—F—A—BRH2EHA

beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1st January, 2022 ZEBFEEHEMER 2 ENEBAHER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2. [&

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a 'General Model’, which is
modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The General
Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation
Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of this standard in the future will have an impact
on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at
the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision
to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in
conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continuea
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments change the requirements in HKAS 1 with
regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments
replace all instances of the term ’significant accounting
policies” with ‘material accounting policy information’.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity's
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The supporting paragraphs in HKAS 1 are also amended to
clarify that accounting policy information that relates to
immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is
immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material.

Guidance and examples have been developed to explain and
demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step materiality
process’ described in HKFRS Practice Statement 2.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments replace the definition of a change in
accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates.
Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was
deleted. However, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates was retained in the Standard with the following
clarifications:

o A change in accounting estimate that results from new
information or new developments is not the correction
of an error.

o The effects of a change in an input or a measurement

technique used to develop an accounting estimate are
changes in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax Related
to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial
recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does
not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences may arise on initial
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit. For example, this may arise upon recognition of
a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset
applying HKFRS 16 at the commencement date of a lease.

Following the amendments to HKAS 12, an entity is required
to recognise the related deferred tax asset and liability, with
the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the
recoverability criteria in HKAS 12.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, the proceeds from
selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and
materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to
HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope
of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine
whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a
result of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating event
that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the
acquisition date. The amendments also add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have a material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continuea
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale
or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a
subsidiary that does not contain a business are recognised in
the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains
or losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest
in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a
joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the
new associate or joint venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these amendments may have an impact on the financial
statements in future periods should such transaction arise.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (continued)
Annual Improvements Project, Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of standards,

including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of

transition to HKFRSs.

. HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the “10 per cent” test in paragraph B3.3.6 of
HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial
liability, explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the entity or the lender on other’s

behalf are included.

° HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example 13
to remove the illustration of reimbursement of leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease

incentives that might arise because of how
incentives are illustrated in that example.

o HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement to
exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair
value of a biological asset using a present value

technique.

The Directors are currently assessing the impact that the
application of the amendments will have on the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2. [&

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30th June, 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (i) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30th June,
2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease. In April 2021, the HKICPA issued
another amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30th June, 2021 to extend the availability
of the practical expedient for any reduction in lease payments
that affects only payments originally due on or before
30th June, 2022 (the "“2021 Amendment”). The 2021
Amendment is effective retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st April, 2021 with any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendment recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at the
beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier application
is permitted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instrument that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
leasing that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

3.

FETFHBR®
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AUHBRERBEARAREMED
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. has power over the investee; . AT EFITEEDN
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . A2 EWIEETRERmES K

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: power over the
investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed in
Note 33, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
the cost of the
is recognised immediately in
in which the

identifiable assets and liabilities over
investment, after reassessment,
profit or loss in the period investment s

acquired.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

3.

FEFITHR
REEBEATIZHELR =

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence AEEFEREERESR TJgg 1A B
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any NaEl =N IRRE - %ﬁﬁfﬂ’tﬁ
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the FHEBR ZERENZNEEEB

investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment

loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
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goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the SEIEMEE BEEE  HEK
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised Z IETxéf@EﬁTEE”J*ﬁB Do MZIBR
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable BRI E & EEEEN - BB BER

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

o Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to
assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint

arrangements, the Group considers:

o the structure of the joint arrangement;

o the legal form of joint arrangements structured through
a separate vehicle;

o the contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement;
and

o any other facts and circumstances (including any other

contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates.

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by

recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred rights

and obligations.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEFTHBE
(continued)
Goodwill B

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed
the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will
not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its
fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit or
loss, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the
disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the

3.
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goods or service is transferred over time if the Group's FEUTIER - BIE aa 3 AR 1 2 1% il 12
performance: Be s A7
. provides all of the benefits received and consumed . % P [A] B R K2 R R A 5 [ R 4V

simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

(i)  Trading of mineral properties and supply chain

Customers obtain control of the uranium and dispersed
metals and electronics products when the goods are
delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognised upon when the customers accepted. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 0-60 days which depends on the
credit quality of customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest methods.

Contract liability
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before that
good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditure incurred in the search
for natural resources as well as the determination of the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting those
resources.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting natural resources become demonstrable, previously
recognised exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as
either intangible assets or property, plant and equipment.
These assets are assessed for impairment before
reclassification, and any impairment loss is recognised in profit

or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case,
the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit before tax.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit (loss) before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

3.

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

FETFHBR®

BiIE
T 15 74 B 5 4 B0 0 FE 480 B 0B B ST
E A -

B HA FE S B TR T IR A I RR 0 M R
8o ERBE M 1R a5 P 2 W20 A
(BE) TR HTHRAMETBRER
fFEEREA ARG ZEER - 75
TEERBARBIXTAMBRIER - &
S B ZAVERIA TR N | E B RRE M
SEERMIHEAE

EEHRARGEMBRERANEERE
BREEEANEERYE N 248
EHEMEZERZEBER BT
HABE-REMEERNE R ZHE
R o fi 7 B 12 7] BE BUAS B AR B0 A A
HEAT A2 ARG R EZRE - BIE
EHRBEEE—REAEAINRERZ
HMER MERZRELBNPER
—HERGZEERAE MAEBRXS
BAIEERIW NI E S E
M A THEIXEBEECHREER
BiE-

REMBEERELEEBEBARMNER
AIRBERRICINENERTE R E
ERER EAEE AT EEEE
ZEBEAREREEAETIERAR
RARFEEAIRRIN  BBZERERE 2
AR EREEMEE CREEHRIEER

EEREE B MIERT G B LAE
REREmEsMmBEARTRBR
A LA [ B 1 3R o

105

(87 & B 5 ke 2 oh

&=

Ed—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HE=ZZT=—F+-_A=+—RALFE

CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
requirements of HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
results in net deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of uranium are determined on the weighted
average cost method and cost of other inventories are
determined on the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding;

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
compressive income:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

at FVTOCI is
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and

Investments in equity instruments
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other

income” line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continvea)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the "other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, restricted cash and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continved)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the
environment of the debtor that

regulatory, economic, or technological

results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

(¢) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continved)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over five years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are

recognised in profit or loss.
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in

Generally,

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31st December,

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEBRw
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) 2T R
Financial assets (continued) BHEE
Impairment of financial assets (continued) & EEEZ L E )
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continved) (v EHEEEBENGTEXE
R )

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9 is derecognised or such investment
becomes interests in associate, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities including trade, bills and other payables,
bank borrowings and amounts due to an intermediate holding
company, ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HE=ZZT=—F+t=-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEFBR»

(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than EETRESMEE)ZRE
financial assets) (continved) E518 @)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use VE BERZEREFES
asset (continued) E (%)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets) (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed and assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets whenever one of the following
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

o the period for which the Group has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or will
expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

o substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

o exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the Group has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset
is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.

3.

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

FETFHBR®

BEFBELHMEE)ZRE
B

HIRRIFEEE
MERRFTEEE 2 REEFERS RFT
e WRHER TSN ERECEE
REEREETREROE  KBREES
TR ZE365R [ FE 2B E |1 R A
FE (Y TN eeFEER) ¢

o ARERETEESHRERENHHE
BRI Em - LR

SEM

o HE-—JTHREIEBERLE
ERERZARERBEEEAE 75
&R 8

s RETRIHELFGEBEEER
VEFFRAEXR AN ZBEER
BB WAEEDRTRIERE
TREZZEERE 3

s ROBEBXRH BERNFEES
ZHREAIESMEELETT BHER
Ko b E B E 2 BREE AT RE R A
DHBEREET 2EKE -

W—REEZREEBEHETKE S
B AUREEENEE AR -

119

(87 & B 5 ke 2 oh

&=

Ed—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HE=ZZT=—F+-_A=+—RALFE

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s family is related

to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

3.
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E" will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, WEEBSE TSGR AlF
£ the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the @@%EH ﬁgﬁﬁﬁ/’%_ﬁi@iﬁﬁ CBRIERE
Q probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible N %5 2 AT B I AR e B
3 obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by (ﬁT—E EE—IEEXyIEi?EX%#ZtH

REDNHE)MEESLAEE  KIF
OB &R 2 AT REIERR DR o

A&7
HEBATAL AZBEALTRZEA
TrZHEFRABRASELNE

() BARKEGHEAZEH IR ZE

T
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBBEAFE 5
(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group (i) AAEEXARRBFRAIZEE
or the Company’s parent. EEABR -
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following m—MEE % J«ATEHM# B £
conditions apply: KEBEBH
() The entity and the Group are members of the same group () EBEROAAEFEER -—S£EZKE
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow UNEIRQIESEal S ESS/NST I == /N

subsidiary is related to the others).

GRACTES N - FNCIE AR

) o
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i —HEBARZ EBZHMZEAR
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a e E D %(jwj —ERBAXE
group of which the other entity is a member). NRAIZEEBHETKE AR 28

ERRRABLR) -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continvea)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

3.

C n ents (cont)';luetb
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(viii)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Power to exercise significant influence

Since 2020, the Group has owned 11.36% of the shareholder
voting rights of CNNC Financial Leasing Limited (“CNNC
Leasing”), a PRC financial leasing company. The Group has
adopted the equity method of accounting for its investment in
CNNC Leasing as it is considered to have significant influence

under HKFRSs.

Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
HKFRSs
indicators that may provide evidence of significant influence,

is not control or joint control. identifies several
including representation on the board of directors of the

investee and participation in policy-making processes.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Power to exercise significant influence (continued)
In accordance with the articles of association of CNNC
Leasing, the Group can appoint 1 out of 7 directors to the
board of CNNC Leasing.

As a result, it is considered to have significant influence and
adopt the equity method.

Rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement

The directors have determined that the Group’s investment in
XXEM LLC should be accounted for as a joint operation rather
than a joint venture. Although the legal form of XXEM LLC
and the contractual terms of the joint arrangement indicate
that the arrangement is a joint venture, venturers are legally
obliged to take the entire output produced by XXEM LLC and
will be the only source of funding to settle its liabilities.

On this basis, the directors consider that, in substance, the
arrangement gives the venturers rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement and
not rights to the net assets of the arrangements and therefore
is a joint operation.

4,
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

4,

HE=Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in trading of uranium. The Group
concluded that it acts as the principal for such transactions as
it controls the specified good before it is transferred to the
customer after taking into consideration indicators such as the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the goods. The Group has inventory risk and price
risk.

When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the
Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as
specified in the contract.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Impairment assessment on exploration and
evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may exceed the recoverable amount. As detailed in
Note 15, the Group owns a number of exploration licenses
included in exploration and evaluation assets in Mongolia for
uranium mining which are subjected to Mongolia’s Law on
Nuclear Energy and Mongolia’s Implementing
Procedures of the Law on Nuclear Energy being effective on

Law on

15th August, 2009 (collectively referred to as the “New
Laws").
The Group commenced negotiating with the relevant

Mongolian authorities in respect of the implementation of the
New Laws from 2010 and consensus has been reached
between the Group and the relevant Mongolian authorities
that a joint venture would be established for holding the
Group’s mining licenses, which are currently under application,
with the Mongolia Government holding 51% of the equity
interest of the joint venture. During the year ended 31st
December, 2019, the Group has initiated the Lawsuit (as
defined in Note 15) claiming to confirm non-performance of
relevant Mongolian authorities in relation to application of the
mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws and
reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. However, the
result of the Lawsuit and the timing of obtaining the mining
licenses are highly uncertain.

In determining the recoverable amount of exploration and
evaluation assets, the management has assessed the
impairment based on higher of value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. To measure the fair value, it requires
significant degree of judgment by management in selecting
the valuation techniques and applying key assumptions and
inputs to the impairment assessment model, including market
price of natural uranium and market observable transactions of
similar transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which hold mining project at preliminary stage, taking into
account the notice from the Mongolian authority, latest status
of the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement for the Group’s mining licenses. Details of the
assessment have been set out in Note 15. Where there is
change in facts and circumstances which results in revision of
future cash flows estimation, reversal of impairment may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such change takes place.

4,

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

Bf S = 5t FU BT & b 5t AR
BHEEZEZEEKRE

FHEFAHBAEEEERE 2
BIRREIFIEEEZ R EFE

HHRLAFEEEEREFTERBRAR
RAREERESBEB A NESREE
BhOR (B A 17 5F 15 o 8 a0 M RE15RT &
o AEEHEAGFADRRFGEE
NZZHEHRFAE FEETR =
ZENFNATRBERZEG 2R
AP R BB ZEENEREF
ZEG (R A G ]) 5 B R
& o

AEBE-_Z-ZEFREFBUSZHE
BHERMENRAEG AfLEHR
FHRSHERERBEXNLEEE
EREHE UBBEEREBERY
RNEBMBREFAIZ - M55 BTG
BEETEREZN% HEZZT
—hE+-_A=+t—BHLFEE A&
EEREFL(EELWEIS) H BE
BREBSHEREREBESH AER

FRMETBESEABIRE LI
EEAERMEMFEHFTE - BRE  FA

RERMESKEFTENEREET
T o

EREANRONHERFIHEE T
BEEMAFREEREBEEREERRAF
BEBROEEXNAZREE - AEAFE
BEEEB2ENHBAEZF G
iy B B P B B2 1R A% K B A\ BUR R (B
PR BERAMA TS ER
MHBEURZEMBBE T E
MERBEEMNQR  ZEE &iTH
SHERMNAN  FRHKIME -
SERBENEERASENYRE
AR A FBRMEISHE -

W%$§ﬂ1ﬂm ‘‘‘‘‘‘ ML BHRARKR S
MEME B HEREEEE
ERFER-E %E%%EE#%%O

125

(87 & B 5 ke 2 oh

—&-

Ed—



CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

126

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment

is stated at costs less

accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the

impairment test.

Impairment assessment of associates

Determining whether interests in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of relevant
associate, which is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The calculation of fair value less
costs of disposal requires the Group to estimate the present
value of the future cash flows expected to generated by the
associate and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the
investment using suitable discount rates. Where the expected
future cash flows differ from the original estimation, an

impairment loss may arise.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

Revenue of the Group

represents amounts

received or

receivable arising from the sale of uranium, dispersed metals
and electronics and other products.
recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the
customer, being at the point the goods are delivered to the

customer.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of goods are

W A % 53 5B & 4

A BRI
FREMER? 2R EKEE R
A HEBRAENINRESH -

EMENREBERIEPRER -

BERESHKA

+B B

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
REGEEYH RIEEEER
Exploration
Trading and selling of
of mineral mineral
Segments 7 properties properties Subtotal Supply chain 2021 Total
HERHE —E--%
CEREYE i §-3E3 INgt e @zt
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI EETRT EETR BRI ERTR
Trading of EE
— uranium — i 280,639 - 280,639 - 280,639
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
SEREER BIEREEH
Exploration
Trading and selling of
of mineral mineral Supply
Segments 7 properties properties Subtotal chain 2020 Total
DRRHE —ToTf
BEBENE BENE et e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Trading of BE
— uranium — ih 662,994 — 662,994 - 662,994
— electronics and —EFREMER
other products — — — 176,936 176,936
— dispersed metals —¢BER — — — 822,540 822,540
662,994 — 662,994 999,476 1,662,470
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rear ended 31st December, 2021

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Information reported to the Group’s executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered or services
provided. The Group has three operating divisions, which also
represent the operating segments of the Group for financial
reporting purposes, namely trading of mineral properties,
exploration and selling of mineral properties and supply chain.
They represent three major lines of business engaged by the
Group. The Group's operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Continuing operations:

e Trading of mineral — trading of uranium
properties
e Exploration and selling of — exploration and selling
mineral properties of uranium
Discontinued operation:
e Supply chain — selling of dispersed
metals and

electronics products,
including but not
limited to trading of
flash drives, memory
cards, etc.
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Fle REBMBE=ZEAZELD TR K
AEBRVBHREMSTE D ZEED
OB AKETTREYE  MFEKIE
EREWERMEEE - BESBREK
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment information

results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

The following is an analysis for the Group’s revenue and

REMBREME @

HE-_ZE-_—F+t=ZA=+—RHL&FE

WARDEBEE

S EEF
AEEZWAREERERREED
BEDZAWWMT -

BE—_FT-—_—F+-HA=+-—
H I FE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
REGCEER BIEEEER
Exploration
Trading  and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties Subtotal chain Total
HMERHE
CERENME RENE et 534 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BETT BETR BETR EETR
Segment revenue AEBA 280,639 — 280,639 — 280,639
Segment profit (loss) A EER (E8) 18,395 (3,947) 14,448 1,899 16,347
Bank interest income RITMEWA 825
Unallocated corporate income 7 Bt & # I A 3,307
Unallocated corporate costs R 2B EERA (20,732)
Share of result of EEBENAER
an associate 15,065
Unallocated finance costs & 2 B B1 7% i A& (9,834)
Profit before tax BR %0 A 4,978
Less: Profit before tax from  Jil : &% [ A€ & ¥ /)
discontinued BR B Al I
operation (1,899)
Profit before tax from FEEEEBRNRE
continuing operations Al % 7l 3,079
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment information (continved)

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

WARDEBEE
SEBEE )

HE_T-FF+_A=+4—
A1k FE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
SELEER BIEEEES
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties Subtotal chain Total
BeEBE BDRRHEE \
mE BEME e i fE 5 mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Segment revenue AEBA 662,994 — 662,994 999,476 1,662,470
Segment profit (loss) AEEF (BE) 7,855 (16,735) (8,880) (35,199) (44,079)
Bank interest income BITFIBHA 410
Unallocated corporate income & 7 fid 7> 2 Wt A 2,207
Gain on deemed disposal of 1R {EHE — R E 1N A
interest in an associate R 2 W& 24,999
Unallocated corporate costs 7 7 B 1 % i K (8,535)
Share of result of an
associate NI (4,140
Unallocated finance costs 7 9 Ed 81 7 il A& (13,099)
Loss before tax bR AT ES 1R (42,237)
Less: Loss before tax from  Jil : IR IFEEEKH
discontinued BREiaESE
operation 35,199
Loss before tax from FEELEBHRTA
continuing operations BE (7,038)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss
from) each segment without allocation of bank interest
gain on deemed

income, unallocated corporate income,

disposal of interest in an associate, unallocated corporate
costs, share of result of an associate and unallocated finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

REMBREME @

HE-_ZE-_—F+t=ZA=+—RHL&FE

WARDEBEE

AN ESE T - L E D E 2 ERER
HRE BB $HH°"*B¢J‘J(E§
BIESOBIEEREF (BE) -
FBIRITHEWA - KD @Em%qﬁz)\
BRELE —HBEAFTNEZ WK
W AP EBERAE - EIEHE QA
EERRDBEI G A - lrtJ'ﬁTy‘Lﬁ
BRDPEEFHESIBERBAMBMEEE
ERREAZEBRIFTEER -

NHMEERER
AEMEEREERERREE D
BN AWM

2021 2020
—F-—f —EZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
ASSETS BE
Segment assets o EE B
— Trading of mineral properties — REREME 48,856 69,262
— Exploration and selling of mineral — WREEE
properties BEY % 4,466 4,704
— Supply chain — e — 78,618
53,322 152,584
Interests in associates iR N R 456,076 433,394
Unallocated corporate assets KPR RAIEE 83,273 31,876
Consolidated assets HEBEE 592,671 617,854
LIABILITIES BE
Segment liabilities DEBBE
— Trading of mineral properties — EEEEYDE 1,236 992
— Exploration and selling of mineral — WRKHEE
properties BEME 18,932 19,018
— Supply chain — e — 916
20,168 20,926
Unallocated corporate liabilities PN /NETN=K T 237,848 287,861
Consolidated liabilities meBaE 258,016 308,787
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continveq)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o Segment assets include property, plant and equipment,
exploration and evaluation assets, inventories, trade and
other receivables and prepayments, restricted cash and
bank balances and cash which are directly attributable to
the relevant reportable segment.

o Segment liabilities include other payables and accruals, a
bank borrowing and amount due to an intermediate
holding company, which are directly attributable to the
relevant reportable segment.

WARDEBEE

SBAERAK
MERSIBERREDED BEAEIR
imE :

s INHEESFMEBERSMER
I 2R - BB Rk - 8
EHEEE FE BEBZK
TR e E At FE WOk R Ko FEA SRR
RIS A RIRIT S RIR

e INHAGBEFMEBERSMEE
FEAG 2 EL At FE A SRR A K B AT R
FoRITER R BN —FER T2
/N E S =

Other segment information Hib o EBE#
2021
—Ez-§
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BERGELY RIEGEEH
Exploration
Trading  and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties  Unallocated Subtotal chain Total
GEBE HRR#E
nE BRENE KR It e g @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR

Amounts included in the measure  FfED BEE

of segment results or segment PHEERTAZ

assets: BE:
Addition to non-current assets REFRDEE - 51
Interests in associates BennEa - -
Depreciation of property, plant and 91+ Bz k&2

equipment e 20 4
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ﬁﬂﬂiéﬁ?ﬁg - -
Share of result of an associate BHERAEE - -

230 281 - 281
456,076 456,076 - 456,076
n 95 - 95

1M1 1M1 - 1M1
(15,065) (15,065) - (15,065)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE

(continued) B . 352
Other segment information (continuea) HthnESEE o
2020
I 22
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
fﬁ ZE, £<<< A % fﬁ 23 £ || 4% 4 AL % f\%
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties Unallocated Subtotal chain Total
BEBE  BRRHE
E BEN% AR I {5 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT BT BT

Amounts included in the measure 25 HFEEHK

of segment results or segment PHEERTAZ
assets: &8
Addition to non-current assets ‘*E?F‘}F@)ﬁﬁﬁ — 263 1 274 6 280
Interests in associates kNG 2 — — 433,394 433,394 - 433,394
Depreciation of property, plant and %1% - BERZEZ
equipment e — 875 20 895 97 992
Depreciation of right-of-use asset #AELEHE - - 334 334 — 334
Write-down of inventories 7 & oA — — — — 52,409 52,409
Impairment loss on property, plant #1% - B k& EH
and equipment HEER — 11,459 — 11,459 — 11,459
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE L&
and equipment weER — 73 — 73 23 96
Share of result of an associate EEMERAZER — - 4,140 4,140 — 4,140
Geographical information i = & #
The Group’s revenue by geographical market (irrespective of REPKRIMEE D 2 K% l)‘i"iﬁli
the origin of the goods) based on the incorporation location of M35 (T & RR M) 2 YA & it 40
the customers are detailed below: ~
Revenue
[N
2021 2020
—E-—% —E_THF
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation
FHEGEE RUEEEEE SECEEDT KRIELKEED g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETR  BETL BETT o
PRC (including Hong Kong) & Bl (835 & %) 53,580 — 31,556 999,476
The United Kingdom T — — 198,021 — ol
The United States % —_ —_ 140,523 —
Germany = 46,520 — 133,396 — 4
Switzerland s+ — — 93,657 — [
Canada IIEP 180,539 — 65,841 —
280,639 — 662,994 999,476 g
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Geographical information (continved)

The Group’s operation is principally located in the Mongolia
and PRC. Information about the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical location of the assets is detailed below:

WARDEBEE

AEETEEZHRTEHZEE - A&
BimEFRPEECHEE N ZEE

AREIIMT

Non-current assets

ERBEE
2021 2020
—®-—5 —T_EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Mongolia e 48 —
PRC (including Hong Kong) PE(BREEE) 456,373 433,767
456,421 433,767

Information about major customers FREEEFR&EH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

HBAEBEEKAI10%KEEF NI

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are HEEOHWRARAT
as follows:
2021 2020
—FT-—F —ZEZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
(Re-presented)
(e E5)
Continuing operations FREKEED
Customer A EFEA 180,539 —
Customer B % FB 46,520 —
Customer C EFPC 48,071 31,557*
* Represents less than 10% of the total revenue. * IERBATEN0% ©
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

6. EEREENE

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and ERHREN TR ESE RITHRAE 2
the chief executive officer were as follows: cap N
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
Exne HeRER BRtEd @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR
Continuing operations REEEER
For the year ended BE_®--%
31st December, 2021 +ZRA=+-BLEE
Executive directors (Note i): PITEE (M) -
M. Zhang Vi FEka 529 58 163 750
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Mr. Zhong Jie BAKE — — — —
Mr. Wu Ge REEHE — — — —
Independent non-executive directors: BUFNTES:
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi BAEEAE 250 - - 250
Mr. Cui Liguo ENEEE 250 — — 250
Mr. Zhang Lei REEE 250 - - 250
1,279 58 163 1,500
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

6.

HEZZT

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and

T—FT-A=T-BLFE

6. EEREEMNE

ENRENTRESERITHRAZ 2

the chief executive officer were as follows: W
Directors' Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
2k Fo LR BT B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Continuing operations BEREER
For the year ended HE-ZT-%
31st December, 2020 +ZA=T-ALEE
Executive directors (Note i): WOTES () :
Mr. Zhang i Raxx
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (W=ZE-ZF
ﬁﬂwat1) 350 17 213 580
Mr. Cheng Lei Btk
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) ( \Z2-%E
hAMAEE) — 183 10 193
Non-executive directors: EHTES:
Mr. Zhong Jie ﬁ;?ﬁ%i
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (R=—F-ZF
ﬁﬂ@ﬂt1) — — — —
Mr. Wu Ge RIEE
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (W=ZE-ZF
AAMA LR — — — —
Mr. Yang Chaodong BERLE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (RZE=FF
hARBET — — — —
Mr. Li Zhihuang FELE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (RZZ_%%F
REMBET — - — —
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES:
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi B Wiﬁi
(appointed on 9th March, 2020) (RZTZ%F
=AARLE) 208 — — 208
Mr. Cui Liguo EFEIE A 250 — — 250
Mr. Zhang Lei RELE 250 — — 250
1,058 200 223 1,481
Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and REAENR _ZE-_ZEFRANBHESZ

Executive Director of the Company on 4th May, 2020. His
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Notes:

(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(i) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

(iii) The directors of the Company are entitled to discretionary bonus payments which are

determined based on the performance.

E%ﬁ/?ﬁﬂwﬁ%ﬁﬁ§$oﬁ
ZHER EXEE  BREEREE =
E-EFE+ A=+ HIEFEET

THRAHRENTESHRERBES
BB &

GEE
0 BLRIRAEEMEDAMRRETAAAR
ARBEY -
i) LBTEREEMEEBEAAARZES
5 -

(iif) ARBEEEREELA %
REEE

ETDRBESRS
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

E M OLU M ENTS (continued)

Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one individual (2020: one individual) was director of
the Company whose emolument is included in the disclosure
set out above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2020:

6. EEREEMNE

REBzZRAEERFMALH  —%
ZEZEF —B)ATARERAE
FRECHMESEF A LXFTE 2B’
BB THNE(ZE_ZTF WOH)A

four) employees were as follows: TzMewnT
2021 2020
—E-—% —R-THE
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Continuing operations FEICE X
Salaries and other benefits B Ko L 42 A 3,757 3,710
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RKAR A 5T 84 5R 184 108
3,941 3,818
2021 2020
—T-—5 —T_EHF
No. of No. of
employee employee
EBEEAH BB AR
Continuing operations FEKE X
Emoluments of the employees were within  EEB& N T T3I4E7 :
the following bands:
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z & 1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 1,000,001 T E
7% #1,500,0007T 2 2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors or the five highest paid employees as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has

waived any emoluments during the year.

Al B2 -

FR - AEEYERENESHAA
RRFHALXNEAMES ERF
EMAREERMALREER 2 B
ABREE MEEERNFAREL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 & = =

7.

-+ _A=+—BLEE

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND 7. HbW AL RY 5 R E518
LOSSES
2021 2020
—®¥-—% —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
(Re-presented)
(seE5)
Continuing operations FEKEET
Interest income from banks #RATH B WA 825 140
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEMZE
equipment &5 18 — (73)
Others H 2,415 2,053
3,240 2,120
FINANCE COSTS 8. MBRA
2021 2020
—ET-—f —ET_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
(Re-presented)
(geE5)
Continuing operations FECEET
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE KT B 5,413 11,941

Interest on loan from immediate holding

KEERERABRER

company A2 1,047 —
Interest on lease liability HEBERNE 2 16
Amortisation of loan front-end fee ERATHE B 3,372 2,939
9,834 14,896
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE
9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9. BRBiAEF (EBHE)
2021 2020
—¥Z—F —_T_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT BT T
(Re-presented)
(reE75)
Continuing operations FRBEKEED
Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at BREARF (B -
after charging: KB TYEE:
Directors’ emoluments (see Note 6) EEME (RWsEe) 1,500 1,481
Other staff costs HAfth 8 TR 13,290 7,885
Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR RAE B FT & 50
(see Note 30) (R P 3E30) 1,470 410
Total staff costs BIRANERE 16,260 9,776
Depreciation of property, plant and W WMEREEZ
equipment e 95 895
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 111 334
Total depreciation mERE 206 1,229
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR B
— Current year — KEE 1,650 1,400
— Over provision in prior year — BAFEBEEE — (181)
Total auditor’s remuneration Z A0 BN & 42 58 1,650 1,219
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - WERRE
plant and equipment ol SE = — 73
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense MR AR X 2 178K A 260,029 649,981
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BERZHN
equipment VEREN SR — 11,459
Expenses relating to short-term leases EHEITH E AR R X 680 127
and after crediting: AR EF A TF & IEE -
Interest income from banks #RATF B WA (825) (140)
Net exchange gains FE 3 W 205 28 (892) (247)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March, 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT"”)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of a PRC subsidiary is 25%.

PRC withholding tax

The PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10% is levied on one of
the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong in respect of
dividend distributions arising from profits of a PRC associate.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HE=ZZT=—F+-_A=+—RALFE

10. FAIEBiEAX

EENEH
—E-NF=A=-+—H FAEMNE
FEB TQOT7TEMRBE USR] (FET5H)
BEHIERM)ER]D  3IATRRFE
MMEGNE - ZERER - N\F=
A+ N \BEEXABEE2 THEH
EERETIE - BREMBFESHHEE
HE AEREBERMNBEEY
2,000,0007T FI & 1% #28.25% Y Fi =& #X
T T8 #2,000,0007T LA 89 F5E ¥
1216.5% M T BT o TR A MRS F
BREFNENEBEENN BB ESR
1216.5% B 5 — B R EF

Fi AERN AR EENEBHNE
MEGBAEISHREN NG BE
2,000,000 5t & A&8.25% 1M B 1B 78
#£2,000,0007T #) 14 &t E 2R B 7 B &
16.5% o

;%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%
BEPECEMSHE(REMRSERH
EDREEMSHEERIES B
M@ N R AT K B25% o

PEENH

st e 0 Bt A R ] O E A O R B
B HARAEEBN—RFDAK
10% H) B 5 ik e B FE B -

2021 2020
—2-—F —_T_EHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
(Re-presented)
(F=&E%))
Continuing operations FEEEET
The charge (credit) comprises: MM (E%) B2 :
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax NEAFIE — HANEH
Charge for the year FARZH 965 —
Over provision in prior years BEFEBERE (10) (36)
Current tax — PRC EIT REATIE — PRI E
FriS %t
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBEIR 2 —
Withholding tax on dividend received from U BY — 5 B & 2 & f% B
an associate RF B A TE 0B 1,500 2,589
2,457 2,553
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 B e e H || =[5

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

10. BB«

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss)

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

HE=

AEENRE A NIRREAER RS

fib 2 T e R B A0 T BR A AT a A (&S

other comprehensive income as follows: 1B)HER -
2021 2020
—B-—F —_T_EHF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
(Re-presented)
(5&=75)
Continuing operations REREEY
Profit (loss) before tax B B A s A (EiE) 3,079 (7,038)
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable in #ZEEERR X E
respective jurisdictions 2 WA 226 (455)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JE{HEfE NBIEEZH
BRE (3.957) 1,035
Tax effect of withholding tax on dividend —MHBERAREIRRKRE
declared by an associate B TR T B
TE 1,500 2,589
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HAERBTWA 2 B
purpose A (174) (4,434)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7~ 7] 1% 5z 2 1 75
purpose e 4,969 4,039
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised WRERTEERE 2
mBe e 66 _
Effect of tax concession granted BRTHRBEEBE BB
B — (20)
Over provision in prior year MTFEBERE (8 (36)
Income tax at concessionary rate BEBEMEH (165) (165)
Taxation for the year KNEE A 2,457 2,553

At end of reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$48,159,000 (2020: HK$47,762,000) available for offset

against future profits.

No deferred tax asset has been

recognised for the year due to the unpredictability of future

profits streams.
indefinitely.

The tax losses may be carried forward

TR B4R m%ﬁik%bﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬂéi
748,159,000 (ZZE=FF :

47,762,0007T) EJME%%;K/M‘J °
AR TR AR ] R - AFEE R
REMELEMSHEE - BIBEIET

R A -

o
M
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11.

On 6th July, 2020, the Company announced to gradually
reduce the scale of its supply chain management business. The
supply chain business was then suspended with the last sale
transaction entered into late 2020 and discontinued after the
collection of the remaining trade receivables with interest in
first half of 2021.

The discontinued operation of the supply chain business
constituted discontinued operation under HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” in
2021.

Result of discontinued operation

CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

RILEEEET

KRR _E-_EFLtANHEMH

HE LR ERE R ERNRRRE

?é HEREBERE K& —FHE
RHOMR_B_ZEFRIV IR _ZFT

T E¥EFERIE-

RIEE BV B REERFSHE 5 F L
EHERDEERRIEELEEK] B
RIEREMNHREREEN T ——
B IEEEXT -

RIEEEEGEE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and GERBRAMLSEKEFK
Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended Year ended
31st December, 31st December,
2021 2020
BE-®S-—F #z-ZT-_Z=F
+=ZA=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H
IEEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Revenue Wz — 999,476
Cost of sales & KA — (1,026,211)
Gross loss ESpi=} — (26,735)
Other income and gains and E fth It A J Uk 25 J &5 18
losses 1,899 2,545
Net exchange gains B 5 U s F R — 43
Selling and distribution HERDHAX
expenses — (3,004)
Administrative expenses TR S — (6,251)
Finance costs B 755 B AR — (1,797)
Income tax expense FTiS#i i & (132) (1,307)
Profit (loss) for the year BRI EERNTERE M (E18)
from discontinued
operation 1,767 (36,506)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE
11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (costinued 1M, RIEEEET o
Result of discontinued operation (continued) RIEGEEXEBRER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows e RER
Year ended Year ended
31st December, 31st December,
2021 2020
BE_S_-_—& #x_ZT_TF
+=ZB=+—H +=ZAHA=+—H
ILEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Net cash inflow from operating activities e EESR M AFEE 30,103 24,943
Net cash inflow from investing activities WEEESHRSRAFE 1,101 270
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEHRSRLFE — (80,656)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BemACRH) FE 31,204 (55,352)
Profit (loss) before tax has been arrived at after charging BREADER (BB BEH%, (GEA):
(crediting):
Year ended Year ended
31st December, 31st December,
2021 2020
BE_T-_—F 8x2_2_2%
+=A=+—-H +=-A=+—H
IEEE I E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
(Re-presented)
(e E=5)
Other staff costs Ef 8 TRA — 6,258
Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR RAE ) 5T & 50
(see Note 30) (& Mt 7E30) — 189
Depreciation of property, plant and W WMEREZEITE
equipment — 97
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - WENMRE
equipment 2 BB — 23
Expenses relating to short-term leases FHEEHEEZHAX — 297
Write-down of inventories (included in GFEMRGIAES B
cost of sales) X 7R) — 52,409
[<H
Interest income from overdue trade o BB E N E 5 BR Y =
receivables FLSWA (1,101) (2,277) ﬂ;%
Interest income from banks HRAT A B WA — (270) ]
. TR el
Net exchange gains P 5 I a5 0% 28 — (43)
[
For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operation, MEMR TRLERMS 54818 % ﬁ
certain comparative figures in the co_nsqhdated statement of REMREK®E SABLRES |
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated e e g o o g +
statement of cash flows and the related notes have been re- Ko A8 A B 5T E"‘J\Ekj: tE}i %5( % E"‘Iii ﬁ
presented to present the results of the Supply Chain Pl AR HEREREXEBRA/LILRL =
Management Business as discontinued operation in the R DR S AR A A4S o

comparative period.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

HEZZE-—F+_A=1T—RILEE

12. DIVIDENDS

12. I 2

13.

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the current
and prior years. The directors have determined that no
dividend will be paid in respect of the year ended 31st
December, 2021 (2020: Nil).

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

13.

REFERBEFEAMERN &
SRR E - EFEARAE TG HE
2%+ _A=+—8BLtFE
ERRE(ZEZZTF : &)

Bz & ¥ (B18)
ADE B AT R E A R F
18) T AR IR T B BB A

following data:

2021 2020
—F-—% —E-EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BT
Profit (loss) for the year attributable KRABIERAEEERN
to owners of the Company i A (B 18)
— Continuing operations — BEREER 622 (9,591)
— Discontinued operation — R EERS 1,767 (36,506)
2,389 (46,097)
2021 2020
—®¥-—5 —E_THF
Shares Shares
% &
Number of ordinary shares for the purposes sTE & AT (EFE) 2
of calculation of earnings (loss) per share LB 489,168,308 489,168,308
2021 2020
—®¥-—5 —E-THF
HK cents HK cents
AWl il
Earnings (loss) per share BRAET (EHE)
— Continuing operations — BFEREER 0.1 (2.0)
— Discontinued operation — RIEREER 0.4
0.5 (9.4)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 2020 were the same as basic earnings
(loss) per share as there were no potential ordinary shares in
issue during the respective years.

BE_T-—FR-F-FTF+A
St-BLEFEZzERBEFRN(E
B)REREXREA (BR)ER - B
HEFEYREEZCETERR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BEREHE
Plant and
machinery Furniture
Leasehold Mining and other and Motor
improvements structure  equipment fixtures vehicles Total
RER#KSE
HEYERE BRESE URHHRE GRERRKE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
osT s
At 1st January, 2020 RZE-FF5-F—H 138 4,481 34,548 1,028 1,431 41,626
Exchange difference ERES — (90) (603) 123 (14) (584)
Additions nE — 109 87 84 — 280
Disposals L& — — (60) (91) (116) (267)
At 31st December, 2020  RWZ-FZTF
+-A=1+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,144 1,301 41,055
Exchange difference ERZES — — - 14 - 14
Additions "E — — - 281 - 281
At 31st December, 2021  HZZT-—F
+-A=1+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,439 1,301 41,350
DEPRECIATION AND RERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1st January, 2020 RZE-FF-F—H 138 1,324 26,738 704 17 29,021
Exchange difference EREE — (29) (413) 52 (7) (397)
Depreciation for the year ~ FEHE — 74 702 181 35 992
Eliminated on disposals HERYH - — (60) (53) (58) (171
Impairment FE — 3,131 7,005 109 1,214 11,459
At 31st December, 2020 RZZ=F&
+ZA=+-H 138 4,500 33,972 993 1,301 40,904
Exchange difference ERES — — - 6 - 6
Depreciation for the year ~ FEHE — - - 95 - 95
At 31st December, 2021  RZFZ—%
+-A=1+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,094 1,301 41,005 B
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 31st December, 2021 R-ZT-—F ﬁ
TZRA=1-H - - - 345 - 345 B
!
At 31st December, 2020 R -F-T%E 2
TZA=1-H - - - 151 - 151 |
|
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, on a straight-line

basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements  Over the term of the leases or 5
years, whichever is the shorter
20 to 40 years

6%—-20%

Mining structure

Plant and machinery and
other equipment

18%-33%

18%-25%

Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS

The Group’s exploration and evaluation assets were mainly
arising from the acquisition of Western Prospector Group Ltd.
during the year ended 31st December, 2009 (“Mongolian
Mining Project”).

On 15th August, 2009, the Mongolian’s Law on Nuclear
Energy and Mongolian’s Law on Implementing Procedures of
the Law on Nuclear Energy (collectively referred to as the
“New Law"”) came into force. Under the New Laws, the
Mongolia Government has the right to take ownership without
payment of either not less than 51% of the equity interest in
the Group’s Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia
Government’s funding was used to determine the resource
during exploration, or not less than 34% of the equity interest
in the Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia Government's
funding was not used to determine the resource during

exploration.
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

AS S ETS (continued)

The directors of the Company commenced negotiating with
the
implementation of various provisions under the New Laws

relevant Mongolian authorities in respect of the
during the year ended 31st December, 2010. Based on
management’s discussions with the relevant Mongolian
authorities and the advice from its Mongolian legal adviser, the
Group will have the right to apply for mining licenses to mine
or extract the resources identified in the relevant areas covered

by the exploration licenses.

During the year ended 31st December, 2012, consensus has

been reached between the Company and the relevant
Mongolian authorities that a joint venture will be established
for holding the mining licenses, which are currently under
application, with the Mongolia Government holding 51% of
the equity interest in the joint venture. Upon the completion
of establishment of the joint venture, the Group’s mining
licenses together with the carrying amount of the Group’'s
exploration and evaluation assets will be transferred to the
joint venture by way of a shareholder loan. In addition, the
Company has drafted the shareholders’ agreement, joint
venture agreement and memorandum and association of the
joint venture and has commenced negotiation with the
detailed terms of these documents with the relevant
Mongolian authorities and a pre-mining cooperation
agreement was signed on 26th June, 2012 to kick off the pre-

mining activities.

A notice was previously received in January 2014 from the
relevant Mongolian authorities which mentioned that the joint
in 2014,
However, the establishment and the grant of mining licenses

venture would be expected to be established

had been postponed due to changes in government officials of
relevant Mongolian authorities in 2014, October 2017, and
June 2019. Further negotiations on the terms of the draft joint
venture agreement have been carried out with the new
government officials of relevant Mongolian authorities. In
2018, the Group received assistance from the Embassy of the
People’s Republic of China in Mongolia, to speed up the
application progress. Several communications were made
between the Embassy and the Mongolian government officials
regarding the application of the mining licence. In December
2019,

Mongolian authority, which suggested the Group to apply for

the Group received a notice from the relevant
a court order in relation to the matters relating to resumption
of the application for the mining licenses for the reason that

the relevant exploration licenses have expired.
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

ASSETS (continued)

Based on the advice from the Group’s Mongolian legal
advisers, on 9th January, 2020, Emeelt Mines LLC, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is the holder
of the exploration licenses (as the applicant) has filed in the
Capital City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia
(the "Court”) an administrative lawsuit (the “Lawsuit”) with
the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (as
the respondent) claiming, among other things, to confirm the
non-performance of the respondent in relation to the granting
of the mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws
and reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. As
mentioned in the announcements dated 5th June and 6th
July, 2020, the Company has received the written judgment of
the Appellate Court regarding the hearing on 4th June, 2020
(the "Written
Mongolian legal adviser, the Appellate Court did not consider

Judgment”). According to the Group’s
the new evidence as it was not previously presented to Capital
City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia (the
“Court”). The Written Judgment concluded the decision of the
Court was right. In light of the new evidence, the Appellate
Court stated that the Group had the rights to make the
application with the new evidence to the Court again. After
receiving further advice of the Group’s Mongolian legal
adviser, the Group had made the application to the Court
again on 26th August, 2020.

On 29th October, 2020, a working committee (“Committee”)

includes, amongst others, representatives from the Mineral
Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM”,
the respondent of the Lawsuit) was set up with a view to help
resolve the disputes regarding the expiry of the exploration
licenses of the Company. The management believes it is a
positive sign of the MRPAM's intention towards resolving the
disputes, though at this stage, there is no guarantee that the

matter shall be resolved in favour of the Company.

Up to the date of this report, there is no further progress.
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

ASSETS (continued)

At 31st December, 2019, the directors performed an
impairment assessment and re-assessed the recoverable
amount of assets based on fair value less costs of disposal,
which is derived by using the market approach. The Group
engaged GCA Professional Services Group, an independent
qualified professional valuer, to perform the valuation for
assessment.

In determining the fair value, the valuer adopted the
comparable transaction method to calculate the value of the
assets. The fair value of the asset is a level 3 fair value
measurement. One of the key inputs to the method was the
measured resources from the uranium mines as market
observable transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which held mining project at preliminary stage, adjusted by the
measured and indicated price multiple, which was determined
as the market comparable projects. The valuer also applied an
adjusting factor with reference to the market price of natural
uranium. In addition to the valuation assessment, the directors
also applied another adjustment factor (adjustment factor for
the status of Lawsuit), taken into consideration the notice from
the relevant Mongolian authority, the uncertain outcome of
the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement procedures for the Group’s mining licenses. The
directors are of the view that possibly unfavourable outcome
of the Lawsuit causes the recoverable amount of assets was
lower than the carrying value of the assets and a full
impairment loss on the exploration and evaluation assets
amounting to HK$210,367,000 was recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December, 2019.
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. Rt E AT 2R

2021 2020

—®f-—5 —T_EHF

HK$000 HK$'000

EETT 7T T

Cost of unlisted investments FEEMEE ZRA 919,456 919,456

Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAE U R B B R H A

other comprehensive income 2m WA (454,836) (469,901)
Dividend payment i B A+ (40,894) (25,889)
Exchange difference fEH =% 32,350 9,728
Interests in associates REERF ZER 456,076 433,394
Particulars of the Group’s associates at 31st December, 2021 RZEZ—FRZF_FF+=A

and 2020 are set out below:

™

=t—B - AEEZBERTFBEW

Attributable voting rights
in the board of directors
held by the Group

Attributable equity
interest held by the Group

Country of
incorporation SEFANEBRE RERFHEEREERRE
Name of associate and operation 2021 2020 2021 2020  Principal activity
AT FEM AL
BEATEE HEMEER —®¥--§ C—T-TH CZBZ-%f C"IT-_TF IEEH
% % % %
Somina Republic of Niger 37.20 37.20 44.44 44.44  Mining
Somina’A A e B & BEERR
CNNC Leasing The PRC 11.36 11.36 14.29 14.29  Provision of financial
leasing services
TREE T E REREBERS
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (ontinvea 16. REtZEATIZER =

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the unlisted investments RZE - —FR_FTE-_FTF+ A
include: =+—H RETHEERE:

37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines d’'Azelik
S.A. ("Somina”)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines
d'Azelik S.A. (“Somina”) through the acquisition of a
subsidiary known as Ideal Mining Limited (”Ideal
Mining”). Somina is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements. At
31st December, 2021 and 2020, the Group’s equity
interest in Somina is pledged to a bank for certain
banking facilities granted to Somina.

Due to the continued operating losses suffered over the
years, unfavourable market conditions for the sale of
uranium and insufficient cash flows for repayment of
outstanding bank borrowings, Somina has run into
serious going concern problems. The production of
Somina has been suspended since the first half of 2015
and it is highly uncertain whether Somina will resume
operation in the foreseeable future.

The directors of the Company considered Somina has no
material improvement noted during the year that can
support the reversal of the impairment loss made in
previous years.

Société des Mines d'Azelik
S.A.([Sominat5]1)37.2% 1Y
B
REBRBEZZT—ZF+=A
ST-HIEFEEBNE—HH
AEREEESRAF(EERE
¥ 2 M B2 A U EESociété
des Mines d'Azelik S.A. ([ Somina
/N ﬂj)237 2%/ KN B &=
Somlna iﬁ/\ﬁﬁ?{#ﬁ%ﬂmﬁﬁ
7_7¢+ ﬂ +—HB K&
B ) SominaA Al 2 IR AN HE 2 B2 4K
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued 16. REIZE AT 2R
ii. 11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing i. PEMEEEFHRLT(P&E
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) E1)11.36% 89 i #
CNNC Leasing is a limited liability company incorporated PREER—ZRXELBEHES

in Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone, PRC and principally
engaged in the provision of finance to its customers
under finance lease arrangements and factoring as
approved by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC.

In December 2020, the board of CNNC Leasing had
approved to enter into an absorption and merger
agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with China
Nuclear E&C Financial Leasing Co., Ltd (P EZmERE
AR AR ("CNECFL") and the shareholders of CNECFL
("CNECFL Shareholders”) in relation to the merger (the
“Merger”) of CNNC Leasing with CNECFL. Pursuant to
the Merger: (i) CNNC Leasing absorbed and merged with
CNECFL,
employees, contracts and all other rights and obligations
of CNECFL were succeeded and undertaken by CNNC
Leasing; and (i) CNNC Leasing allotted and issued
RMB1,247,526,100 new registered capital (the “New
to the CNECFL Shareholders,
representing approximately 38.41% of the registered
capital of RMB3,247,536,100 of CNNC Leasing (as
enlarged by the New Equity Interest).

and the assets, liabilities, businesses,

Equity Interest”)

The Merger
provided an enlarged capital base for CNNC Leasing to
expand its business. With the public utilities projects of
CNECFL succeeded by CNNC Leasing, CNNC Leasing is
expected to be able to diversify its business. The Group's
interests in CNNC Leasing was reduced from
approximately 18.45% to approximately 11.36% (as
enlarged by the New Equity Interest). After the Merger,
CNNC Leasing has 7 directors in total, of which one of
the directors was nominated by the Group. CNNC
Leasing remains to be recognised as an associate of the
Group, and hence, according to the accounting policy of
the Group, the Group will continue to share the profit or

loss and other comprehensive income of CNNC Leasing.
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueo) 6. REEZEAT 2L )
ii. 11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing ii. ‘P*"nﬂé*ﬂ SHRAT ([P#&E
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) (continued) BH11. 36%E’JE$E“¢)
The financial information of CNNC Leasing based on HE-_ZT-_ KT _FF
financial information prepared by management in +-—AZ+—HIEFE &EHE
accordance with accounting policies of the Group for the BETVRBERNEENGHBER
year ended 31st December, 2021 and 2020 is set out P ZEENMBELEAT
below:
2021 2020
—E-—f —E-FHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Financial position: B AR
Non-current assets FERBEE 20,470,573 19,384,708
Current assets MENEE 16,879,709 8,265,008
Current liabilities mEBE (11,642,201) (6,328,561)
Non-current liabilities FEnBEE (21,804,824) (17,609,967)
Net assets attributable to the owners of B & A &G AFEL
the associate BEEFE 3,903,257 3,711,188
Reconciliation of its net assets to the  Ef& A RIMEZREE
carrying amount of the interest in HHEFEENYR
associate:
Net assets attributable to the owners of & N @A AFE1L
the associate BEFE 3,903,257 3,711,188
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ ANEBEBZE A RHES
interest in associate T 7 75 HY EE 7)) 11.36% 11.36%
Goodwill kS 12,666 11,803
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 78 5 B 73 B & 2 5 # &5
in associate " ER EE 456,076 433,394
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B 16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. ﬁ’éﬂgﬁ%/&ﬁz*gﬁ(ﬁ)
S ii. 11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing i. PTEMEHEHEFRAT((HZE
[J)
x Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) (continued) B 1)11.36% M BXHE (&)
< 2021 2020
S —¥Z—F —_T_TF
s HK$'000 HK$'000
E EETR BT T
-
E Revenue for the year REEZWA 1,343,212 788,640
o
‘Fé Profit (loss) and total comprehensive KFEERF(EBE) L2
o income (expense) for the year (A ) 88 139,341 (22,438)
é Dividend received/declared during the ZAFEBKE|,EIKH
z year DHE 15,005 25,889
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of Ba R REEHUReERN
associates to transfer funds to the Group in the form of MASBEDAMENSBEXEE
cash dividends. K H PR 6] o
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 17. EHEEE
Office
WAE
HK$'000
BT T
At 1st January, 2020 R-ZZE_FEF—H—H 556
Depreciation mE (334)
At 31st December, 2020 and 1st January, 2021 RZE-ZEF+-_A=+—HBHRK
—E-—4%—H—H 222
Depreciation e (111
Early termination A& L (11
At 31st December, 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H —
HK$'000
BT T
Expenses relating to short-term leases BHEBEE MY 680
Total cash outflow for leases HERERLEE 799
The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis FRAEEERNEENAREZRENE -
over the lease terms.
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18.

19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

INTEREST IN A JOINT OPERATION
XXEM LLC (“"XXEM") is a joint operation in which the Group

has joint control and 50% ownership interest.

It principally

engaged in the provision of electricity transmission services in

Mongolia.

The Group is entitled to 50% share of the revenue earned and

bears 50% share of the joint operation’s expenses.

18. &

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

EEBZERD

XXEM LLC ([ XXEM ]) &A= B #E A &
A 126 R50% AN G & ¥ &
RRAIFEREREHRES HEEGR
ﬁ%o

AEBHRIEAE L EEHTRIUULA
Z50% M FES & E 250% T o

INVENTORIES 19. 58
2021 2020
—®¥-—5 —T_EHF
HK$000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Uranium concentrates = 48 o — 3,417
Electronic and other products (Note) B NEMESMF) — 52,409
Consumable goods Al E R o 682 386
682 56,212
Less: Provision for write-down (Note) R OR B (B EE) — (52,409)
682 3,803

Note:  The relevant inventories was fully written off during the year.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

FEE  ARRE T B A B o

. BB B AR B H it FE Uk

PREPAYMENTS MIBL R T RIE
2021 2020
—g-—F —T_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT IT
Trade receivables — aged 0 to 30 days FEW B 5 R
— OH #30H — 29,305
Other receivables H i 5K IE 73 91
Deposits paid =N 34 34
Prepayments TET FRIE 1,102 916
Amount due from an associate (Note) JFE W Bt 2 B 3R I8
(M%) 13,505 —
14,714 30,346
Note:  The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment. Mict: REEER 28 EETERE-
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

HEZ

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

21.

PREPAYMENTS (continvea

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will
understand the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
its credit limits. Credit sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly.

The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 60 days to its trade
customers and presented the aged analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and deposits paid for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 2020 are set out in Note 29(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. There is no loss allowance
made during both vyears as the directors determined the
amount is insignificant.

RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents deposits pledged to banks to secure
a bank borrowing of the Group. The Group has no restricted
cash (at 31st December, 2020: approximately HK$5,433,000)
as at 31st December, 2021 due to full repayment of the bank
borrowing as set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Bank balances and cash
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily
bank deposit rate.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group has cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB47,482,000 (2020: RMB31,143,000), which are deposited
with banks in PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the
PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks in the PRC that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

During the year, the Group performed impairment assessment
on bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are unlikely and
accordingly, no loss allowance is provided.

Details of impairment assessment of restricted cash and bank
balances and cash are set out in Note 29(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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21.
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ZREFEE RITERR
HE

ZREFE
xﬁﬂﬁihﬁﬁ%$ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ
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HEWRZZEZEFF+_A=+—H":
475 15,433,0007T) - A RE BEHEE
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ERRE AEERESBREET
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ERFEAR AEBEHRTERET
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. %f&ﬂgﬁﬁlﬁ LB FEET R

2021 2020

—B-—F —_T_EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

EETR BT T

Interests payables &S 1,047 63

Other payables E th & 5 IE 3,025 985
Other payable to the joint operator of BN G EER

the joint operation (Note) & & 7E (K 16,411 16,960

Accruals & &t R 3,117 3,584

23,600 21,592

GEE

23. SRITIER

Note: REAREER REREEEENRY-

BANK BORROWING

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment.

2021 2020
—¥Z—F —E_FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
The bank borrowing comprise: RITIERBIE -
HK$ bank borrowing — secured LA E SR IRITIE K
— BHEA — 285,497
Loan front-end fee EXRAEER — (3.372)
Bank borrowing due within one year and —F RN RREK
repayable on demand EEMIEITER — 282,125

In 2020, the Group’'s bank borrowings are variable-rate
borrowings, carry interest at a premium over Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"). The effective interest rates
of the borrowings during the year ranged from 1.69% to
5.14%.

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group’s borrowing of
HK$285,497,000 that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entity. The
borrowings are secured by the 11.36% equity investment in
CNNC Leasing with carrying value of HK$433,394,000, entire
share capital of CNNC International (HK) Limited (“CNNC
(HK)"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, restricted
cash of HK$5,433,000 and all monies, dividends and interest
receivable in respect of CNNC Leasing, if any.

The bank borrowing as at 31st December, 2020 has been fully
repaid during 2021 and all securities as mentioned above have
been fully released.

R-E-_ZTF AEBWRTERE
FERRER  EFBERE BRI
B 25 B A X ([HBOR]) - KEER
ERHEBRFEN F1.69%E5.14% °

RZZEZTEF+_A=+—H X&
75 #285,497,0007T & 2 LAE 8
SEETEENOMEEE AN BT
BolEFRAPZBEERME LSS
433,394,0007CH911.36% I A 18 & -
RABZEWB AR R ZER(FE)
BRAB(HZEBDBH 2K
- 75 #5,433,0007T A9 PR HI R & -
EEERE - UERPZEENRE SN
REKFZEENT BE/EAER 0
ﬁo

HEZ-_ZF+-_A=+—HHIR
TEFER_BE-_—FERNES L
EKIRE B EE -
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24. LEASE LIABILITY

Movement of the Group’s lease liability is analysed as follows:

24. HEESR

AEEHERBENESHOFWT

2021 2020

—g-—F —T_TF

HK$000 HK$'000

BETR BT T

Balance as at 1st January R—RA—B®&EsR 228 559

Interest expenses recognised during the year & AR F BB X 2 16

Payments INE:N (119) (347)

Early termination RATZIE (111) —
Balance as at 31st December R+t—A=Z+—HHW

R — 228

The present value of future lease payments of the Group's

AEBHENRRBEENKBEES I

lease are analysed as: N
2021 2020
—g-—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Current Vik2) — 228
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. Ig X
Number of ordinary shares Amount
TERHE &8
2021 2020 2021 2020
k- Sl 3 —T-TF ¥ _—T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
Ordinary shares of TREES¥0.01TZ
HK$0.01 each gL
Authorised: ETE
At 1st January and R—HAH—BAK
31st December +-A=+—H 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR
At 1st January and R—A—ARK
31st December +=-A=+—8H 489,168,308 489,168,308 4,892 4,892




26. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Share premium
The share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve mainly represents the deemed capital
contribution.

Non-distributable reserve

The non-distributable reserve represents the aggregate amount
of the share premium of the subsidiaries as at the time of a
group reorganisation effected on 13th December, 2002 (the
“Group Reorganisation”).

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve is a reserve required by the relevant laws
in the PRC applicable to a subsidiary in the PRC for enterprise
development purpose.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations which are dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ments (conti;7;1'.ez.77
B HEME o) |

26. By is B R Gt 48

B 1 im 1B
BRI EEREBEEREENEEE
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. EBRRtESTE
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The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a
resolution passed on 31st May, 2013 (“2013 Share Option
Scheme”). Under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to eligible employees and
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from
time to time, grant share options to outside eligible advisors
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries at the
discretion of its board of directors. The purpose of the 2013
Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees,
directors, consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group
and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The number of shares which may be issued under the schemes
are subject to the following limits:

(i) the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the share option scheme
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company from
time to time;

(i) without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company is not permitted to exceed 48,916,830 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date approving the 2013 Share Option
Scheme; and

(iii)  the number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of such grant.

ARBEHRMA—EARBR _-_ZT—=%
FA=Z=+t—HBBBEZRBRZERE
AT -—=FBEREFE]) R
BT -=FEEREFE AQRA
RHBRETARRAMEMBEARZ
BEBEERES URBARXRMK
etih MARREER ZBIBFR
AR ROBRETAQR RE
MEARZIAEERBER R EAE
Bl —T-—=FBRETINENI
Bl R RBREATRALAEEE
T EF ERMKRRREH/RBEINIZB
feim e R R BT -

REZFAEATETZIENHEER
THRR

(i) REZFFAERARFEMEM
B IR M T B R RE R BE AR AR P
REMEE LR AR BB
RRARAKEHETRODBEZ
30%

(i) TERESARABRESLHE
AT ARIBRERESTEI T RE R LR
BRI R 2BRMEE  ~E5HA
48,916,830/ - H & N £ = &
—=FERETEEBBRAR
AEBITRAZI0% : &

(i) PER—FARREREIMNALE
HERE LR BN E - ~F
BBAARNZERLBHC %
TERARZ1% -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (oniinuco) 27. BB HERT &l o)
A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance REMBRTERERAINBEEITR
of the grant of the option. The exercise price is determined by BAREB-TEBEHRARAIEEE
the directors of the Company and will be at least the higher EEBRIEBERTIESE  ()ARQ
of (i) the average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares AEERREERTE BB AGERS
of the Company for the five trading days immediately Az FHRHE: (VAR R @R
preceding the date of the grant; (i) the closing price of the BHBABRZHBTE  Rii)VARFE®
ordinary shares of the Company on the date of the grant; and AR E1E -
(iii) the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.
Any options granted under the scheme must be exercised BEZEFERE 2 EMEREAER
during such option period as may be determined and notified RRBEFETERAMZZEERE
by the directors of the Company, which shall not exceed 10 BRI AATEE - BB T 15 @R R
years from the date of acceptance of the option. RN E HAE109F o
No options have been granted under the 2013 Share Option BE_E-—=-—FERBEFEHERAU
Scheme since their adoption. Ko WERIBEZ SR EREEMER

1 o
28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXEIGEE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

maximising the return to shareholders

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share

capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
annually. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
assess the annual budget prepared by management of the
Company. Based on the proposed annual budget, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. The directors of the Company also
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues,
dividend distribution as well as the issue of new debts.

AEBEEBEEEANBRASEER
BEERFELE AKEBERLEER
L#mZ FPERBRREOBRERS °
AEBZERBRBERE T FEREIFIE -

AEBEZEARBREARAEAA
D (BREEMBBRRAMEEZ
P A R ) e

ARREEBFEHELARB R
HEMz B0 ARREFHAR
REEERBECFEREETHMGE -
REZEFERE ARAEFZE
BARARBRERABH AR - AQ
AEFETEBARABITHR LET
MES BREDEKKXBORBEESFIN
FHERBREEARE -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

(a)

(b)

HE=Z

T—FT-A=T-BLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. @R TR
Categories of financial instruments () €T ARAZER
2021 2020
—E-—f§ il
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost 55 AR 134,237 179,196
Financial liabilities SREE
Amortised cost B9 R AN 257,712 307,726
Lease liability HEaHE — 228
Financial risk management objectives and (b) eFEREEEERBEK
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade ZISEEZI TRTABEEK
and other receivables and deposits paid, restricted cash, B SRR E MR R GRIE R E
bank balances and cash, other payables and accruals, aTi CEREIRE CRITEBN
bank borrowing, lease liability, amounts due to Re HMEMNKREREFRK
immediate holding company, an intermediate holding *’”fﬁfﬂ%?ﬁ( %ﬂf%fi%*ﬁ
company, ultimate holding company and fellow HEEERK s — AR EER
subsidiaries and loan from immediate holding company. ET Ffﬂ? Hx T&H!/%W%
The risks associated with these financial instruments and HERKRBEEZERAAE
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out /f)\ﬂ S TXHINHESMIA
below. TR 2 Bk & & it Rk 2 I
&
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & B % 70 7% (B 7F 1

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, carrying amounts
of financial assets represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit
risks associate with a trade debtor is mitigated because
the amount is secured by customer’s inventories as
collateral.

BE-_T-_—FR-_F_FF
Jr A=+—H ¢REENE
THEBERERARNZAR
°$’§ljlﬂh7ﬁ{£ﬁﬁﬁﬁuu
iﬁ{ﬂzﬁfi‘%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁtﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁi
TREEMRBNEERR I
/\,\%ﬁf“}\él’ﬁﬁf'ﬁfmﬁﬂ 213
NEfie  ARZeAaEPNE
ERMERE M -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables, deposits paid and amount
due from an associate

The credit risks on other receivables, deposits paid and
amount due from an associate are limited because the
counterparties have no historical default record and the
directors expect that the general economic conditions
will not significantly change for the 12 months after the
reporting date. Therefore, the credit rating is considered
to be low credit risk and the loss allowance is measured
on 12m ECL basis.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the
Group assessed the ECL are insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding other receivables and deposits paid with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

Restricted cash and bank balances and cash

The credit risks on restricted cash and bank balances and
cash are limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Therefore, the credit rating is considered
to be low credit risk and the loss allowance is measured
on 12m ECL basis.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the
Group assessed the ECL for restricted cash and bank
balances and cash were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding bank balances, with exposure spread over a
number of banks.

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

29. €M T H»

(b)

EREABEEEERBUR

(43
(A=

EE@%HWEE#E@O

Ay 8~ BT £
K ERE & R Al KB

H ot RROE - BATE S RN
BEREREANEERBER
HAXSHFIEELENRD
o MEFBHNEE B HERD
128 A MEREERR T B R
BEAEH - Bt EATRER
RREEARR  EREHBN
6 A BB R AR -

HE-_Z-_—R-_FT_FF
+T-A=+—BLEFE ~&EH
FEEREEREBBY TEX
3 RS R

AEBEWEBANEHREMEK
FERENFTENEERR M
% EUWRIE M ERR D BN 2 ([
RPEF e

RIRE T RIRTTA B R
&
SRHBERBTEHRRESH
FERBRAR BRYTFHEE
RSE T REEEENEETR
BEMEBT - Bt 58T AW
RAREEARR  BEEEN
REABEREEBRAER-

BE_ZT-_ " FR_Z_FF
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A EPRHIR e MRITE SR RIR
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_29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continues 29. R T B
S (b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) 2RtEMEEEERBE
% policies (continued) (#)
2 Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 Bz 70 ok (B 5F 125 =)
E (continued)
= Internal credit risk grading assessment A BB 15 A JEL B 5T AR AT A
- The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment RNEE RN E = A R B 5T ARG
‘E comprises the following categories: BIEATER
—
g Internal Trade Other
E" credit rating Description receivables financial assets
£ P & 1= A F 4 i it FE Wt B2 5 BR =X Hith&REE
é Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not ~ 12-month ECL
© and does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
AENS S RHpHFENARBE BREEMAH 2HEHAEEFE 12EAEHEE
ok — REERARE B8
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired

information developed internally or
external resources

3= BREBANNAENESIIHER THREBEEER 2HEHEERR
PEHERAR - ERRAREZEM — REGERAREE — REGERAREE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

B8 ERBRAZBEFHEGERRRE PHEHEEEFE 2HESEEER

— ERRE — ERRE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written ~ Amount is written off

is in severe financial difficulty and the off

Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

Bt BERBBRABEABBRENN K REME REME
W MAAEERERENREANS
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 BEZE_—_ZT_— 4 +t-_A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

29. £ TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

EEERFA L

TRAMINETAEENERE
ENERRARKD  ZXEHEE

assessment: B8 L
External Internal
credit credit
rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
hip LE
ERFSR EREFE @RS HEHESESE BRELE
2021 2020
—F--§ —Z-F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3E BE®FRT BETx
Financial assets at
amortised cost
REHEBRATEN
SHEE
Restricted cash and bank 21 (Note) N/A 12-month ECL 120,625 149,766
balances and cash
TRERES KRBT (P 3E) T A NEABRHEESSE
EHkES
Trade receivables 20 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 29,305
BB 5 85 3% NiE A 1R B FHEREESAE
Other receivables 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 73 91
H At & I 5% TiE K& & NEAEHREEER
Deposits paid 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 34 34
BT NEA 152 R NEARHEESRE
Amount due from an 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 13,505 —
associate
JE U — R & D A FUE i A Rk NEABRHEESSE

Note:  The credit risk is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial

institutions with high reputation.

M FRRABRER BRAHEFIREEREMN
RITRSEEE -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

HEZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk

(1)

Foreign currency risk management
While most of the Group’s operations are

transacted in the functional currencies of the

respective group entities, the Group undertakes
certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group currently has not formulated
any hedging policies against its exposure to
currency risk. However, the Group manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rate and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in

-+ _A=+—BLEE

29. £ TR
(b) ﬁmﬂ]ﬁlf’qﬂﬁ*ﬁ'&ﬁﬁﬁ

ﬁ%ﬂﬁ
(i) SNERE R E
BENEBALHELD

NEEBEEB 2R EE
ET - WEAEEETET
NINBETFHEZR S - A &E
E1pERS o O = g e
#l E ] ¥R IR

i AR ) B
ANGE [ 2= 5 B B IR H AN
Bk TR EREERE
EE R ERINE R g -

AEBELINESTE(BREE
B REERER(ER

foreign currencies (HK$, Mongolia Tughrik (“MNT") BERDREARE) ZE®E
and RMB) at end of both reporting periods are as ENEBEBENMERS
follows: HRZEEENT :
HK$ MNT RMB
b BE#ER ARE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T BT T
As at 31st December, 2021 R-E=-—%
+=—A=+—H
Assets BE 5,698 2,986 485
Liabilities BfE 238,363 18,575 —
As at 31st December, 2020 RZTZTHF
+=ZA=+—H
Assets BE 6,827 3,693 79
Liabilities BE 287,659 17,513 —
Sensitivity analysis BRERE DT
The following table details the Group's sensitivity TRFFAHAREE LA
to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in the BEBEEEMNNEEEY
functional currencies of the relevant group entities HEINENS% (ZEZF

against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2020:
5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates.

F 5% )EHOHBERE-
5% (ZZFE-FF :5%)K
%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé@ﬂ%
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at end of reporting period
for a 5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profits (2020: decrease in post-
tax loss) for the year where the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities strengthen
5% (2020: 5%) against the relevant currency. For a
5% (2020: 5%) weakening of the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal

and opposite impact on the result for the year.

e = b —ae e B = S e

29. £ TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

/435 )

ﬂ;' 1% B B )

(1)

P [ Bz B (4
BRE DT

HREESMEBREREE
WA ENE KR
B WERSHRAEH
BB - DAE NS IE K 2 )
5% (ZZFEZZFF :5%)-°
UTEHEERTFARE R
FEM(ZEZZEF - HiiE
BiERLD)  HPEEER
FENIEEBHEENA
BEBENTS% (==
TF:5%) MEBAER
TR A IS H AE RSN

8

BRESR (T T F:
5%) Al@HFRREE

ERASHEROTE -

2021 2020

—F-—f —EZTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BT T

HK$ B 9,714 11,725
MNT (Sl 702 622
RMB AR (18) 3)
This is mainly attributable to the exposure EFERBANRAFEHRK

outstanding on trade and other receivables,
restricted cash, bank balances and cash, bank
borrowings amounts due to ultimate holding
company and fellow subsidiaries and loan from
immediate holding company denominated at the

end of the reporting period.

W E 5 BR BN H b e
Wk ZRHIEE - R/IT
BHUERE RITE
BN EEERAAR
CESGIENCIE/ S =
BEERERARNENRAE
REERRAPTE -
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HEZ

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to loan from immediate holding
company (see Note 32(b) for details) in 2021 and
variable-rate bank borrowings (see Note 23 for
details) in 2020 respectively. The Group's cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of HIBOR. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure

they are within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
rates for

based on the exposure to interest

variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
existed for the whole year. A 50 (2020: 50) basis
increase or decrease

points represents

management’s assessment of the reasonably

possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2020: 50) basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit (loss) for
the year ended 31st December, 2021 would have
increased/decreased by HK$2,138,000 (2020:
increased/decreased by HK$1,445,000)

-+ _A=+—BLEE

29. £ TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

(1)

ﬁ%ﬂﬁW7

(11)

T 2 B2

$Elﬁ_7_*¢%x
BREEERDAER G
5B 73200 >&ﬁu T =

TEAXBMZEHTER
T8 R (FF R M 7E23) 19 3]
i//\b%ﬂTH °Z'§§u§<@
WReRENERBEE
SR EBBRITAERE
B R B o A K BAR & K
K Bl &= Gl A ] A1) &
BEHEEANELRLERE
BHEMERR ETEE®H
BE B R EME X
BEROLLE - WHEREE
AEHENAN-

BRRE DT

N THBREDTEIRIEZ
B A RBITERFEE
% M TE B o 0 AT = R AR R
REEHAMNKREEGD
CEGFEREFHNRES
EHRSEF EEELF
A EA BT HE
SOEEBMIER (ZE=F
¢:501%£>°

MR FE EF T BES0ME
EH(ZZE T F:50
@) - I B % B B H b &

%h?“'%$%lai
—E -+ A=+—
HIEFENT %R (S
B mm DB
2,138,000t (= & = &
F:B MR DB
1,445,0007T) °



ments (conti&z.lew .
MBBENE o0 |

| f_l\EILJ:iJE

29. €t T H»
(b) 2RtEMEEEHERBE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk BN 2 E

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, the directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the fact that the Group incurred a net profit
of HK$2,389,000 for the year ended 31st December,
2021 and as of that date, the Group had net current
assets of HK$96,234,000.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment of the Group's future liquidity, cash flows,
and available unutilised short-term banking facilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements.

REEBRBESRERE  AKHE
SEENHFRENASEEY
ERERBRRBITRZKF - A
BNAKEz2EMRER R
BRERENBZTE -

ERARAHE-_T-_—F+=
A=t—BLFENFEMNAEE
#£2,389,0007T * ARRIMEEA
RERARANEHPBREED
BEEZRTAEENRRER R
HERBEZR  AEENRD
& EF 5 R 196,234,0007T °

ARANEFCHHEARENR
XnEd ReRERATAE
ABRAHEHRITEER -

ARAREZRA BHEAGHY
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policies (continued)
LiqUidity risk (continued)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

29.

TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

/g3

i

(45 )

AREEL R

Weighted On demand or

Total

average less than undiscounted Carrying amount
interest rate 3 months 4-12 months  1-2 years  2-5years  cash flows at 31.12.2021
—B--%
i BR% mE i +-A=+-A8
THHE  DRZMEA +ZER -EZmE WELE REREET fREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A BETR BETT BETR  BETR BETR BETT
2021 —%--%
Non-derivative instruments  FE#TET R
Other payables and accruals H A B RROB R JE A RK N/A
TER 23,600 - — — 23,600 23,600
Amount due to immediate ERERERARANA N/A
holding company TER 232 - - - 232 232
Amount due to an intermediate & — R N R N/A
holding company ARIE TER 1,903 — — - 1,903 1,903
Amount due to ultimate holding & {7 — & S &8 2 AR N/A
company INSE S TER 1,977 - - —_ 1,977 1,977
Loan from immediate holding ~ HEAERERATNER
company 252 1,428 16,307 41,324 185,740 244,799 230,000
29,140 16,307 41,324 185,740 272,511 257,712
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved) 29. 2T H »
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REABEEBERERRER
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continuea) REEREE =
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than undiscounted Carrying amount at
interest rate 3 months ~ 4-12 months ~ 1-2 years  2-5 years cash flows 31.12.2020
—R-ERF
i RE% E AR TZA=t-H
THNE  SR=A TZEA —EMF WMELF RERESH HKEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BAl BETT BETT AT ABTr BETT BETT
2020 “ECRF
Non-derivative instruments FETR
Other payables and accruals i e B R EE R N/A
TER 21,592 - - - 21,592 21,592
Bank borrowings BIER
— Variable interest rate — FPR% 255 285,497 — — — 285,497 282,125
Amount due to an intermediate & — R N MK N/A
holding company DAFE TER 1,892 — — — 1,892 1,892
Amount due to ultimate holding & — & & & 2 ) N/A
company NAFE TEA 1,977 — — — 1,977 1,977
Amounts due to fellow ERASZNE N/A
subsidiaries RARFAE TEhR 140 - - - 140 140
Lease liability HERE 442 87 145 — — 232 228
311,185 145 - - 311,330 307,954
(c) Fair value measurement of financial () 2T RAZAF{EHFAE
instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities cREENEREEZAFED
are determined in accordance with generally accepted LABRIRIR & & H AT A E ER &
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. EBARZIEBEAET -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying KRBIEERE WAV HR
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities RARBBERATEZEREE
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial remaGERaEHEEAFEMR
statements approximate to their fair values. oo

B HEEZ h

Bhh-—%
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

Effective from 1st December, 2000, the Group has participated
in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
for all its eligible employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution

payable in the future years.

Mongolia

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
Mongolia, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (“the Schemes”) organised by the
Government of Mongolia whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at a rate of 11%-13.5%
of the eligible employees’ salaries. Contributions to the

Schemes vest immediately.

PRC

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s PRC subsidiary is required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
The Group’s PRC subsidiary
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of

local municipal government.
the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the total amount contributed by the Group to
the relevant retirement benefit schemes is HK$1,470,000
(2020: HK$410,000 and HK$189,000 for continuing operations
and discontinued operation, respectively).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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31. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

REMBREME @

ias = = — e B = S relE s

3. ZKEHRERBERMEE

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

METHMELERBIHEE

TR AEEREZHAELAE
MEHFF ERAS LR E
H-RMEAPMELABNRERE
ERIBENAKESRERERER
NP BERKXERELZDNRERE -

Amount Amount due
due to an Amount due to a joint operator Loan from Interests payable
intermediate  to ultimate holding Amounts due to  (included in other  immediate holding (included
holding company company fellow subsidiaries payables) company Lease liability in other payables)  Bank borrowings
Bitag
SREES
Ef-H EfRE EfAE RE REEH EfHE
PRHER BRAE HEAT GtARHER BRAT (BifEfE
ATRE HE HE HE) EES HEAR ERRE) RITER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LR LR LR LR LR LR LR ELR
As at 1st January, 2020 RZ%z%E-A-8 1,901 1977 140 14703 - 559 164 538,774
Changes from financing cash HEnGREED:
flows:
Lease payments — — — — — (331) — —
Interest paid - - - - - (16) (13,839) —
Advance from a joint operator — — — 232 — — — —
Proceeds from borrowings — — — — — — — 332,133
Repayments of borrowings — — — — — — — (595,876)
Other changes:
Exchange differences EREE 9) - - (67) — — — 4155
Finance costs HBER - - - - - 16 13,738 -
Front-end fees amortisation EEEEET] - - - - - - - 2,939
As at 31st December, 2020 St Juk 34
+ZR=t-8 1892 1977 140 16,960 - 28 63 28,125
Changes from financing cash HERSRRLY:
flows:
Interest paid — — — — — — (5,476) —
Repayments of borrowings - - - - - - - (285,497)
New borrowing from immediate
holding company — — — — 230,000 — — —
Repayments to fellow subsidiaries 18 Z i 84 - - (140) - - - - -
Repayments to a joint operator HEEHER - - - (644) - - - -
Interest elements of lease rental paid 217 & £ - - - - - [l - -
Capital elements of lease rental paid  EREEREMEREH - - - - - (17) - -
Other changes: £gs:
Exchange differences EiZE 11 - - 95 - - - -
Early termination RERLE - - - — — (1) — -
Finance costs BHEER - - - - - 2 6,460 —
Front-end fees amortisation - - - - - - - 331
As at 31t December, 2021 RZ§=-%
+ZB=t-8 1,903 1911 - 16411 230,000 - 1,047 -

{7/
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IERN/



CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

174
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The following transactions and balances were entered into

during the year or outstanding at end of reporting period

respectively.

(a)

(b)

HEZZE-—F+_A=1T—RILEE

32. FAELIKE

AT G REEHRD
HEMRHKREE -

RIREARFTLAR

Amounts due to immediate holding (a) Eff—EEEERATR
company, an intermediate holding I8 —RbRERATFH
company, ultimate holding company and B RRERATRER
fellow subsidiaries —EHEBRMBATIRIE
The amount due to an intermediate holding company is FEA — R IR A A FRIE A 3£
denominated in USD. The amounts due to immediate TCHE o BN —HEEERA R
holding company, ultimate holding company and fellow FRIE - EIER A R FIE K — A
subsidiaries are denominated in HK$. All these balances B & K[ B A 7 5 IE LAE 51
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. B-MEHNABEEKR 2B KA
RERERE -
Loan from immediate holding company (b) REEEERATIHNER
2021 2020
—F-—%F —T_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Loan from immediate holding company 2 &5 & £ %28 2A & 8
=E 230,000 —
Less: Current portion of loan B ERETERE (12,000) —
Non-current portion of loan B IERNEREL & 218,000 —

The loan was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest

ZEFABEE  BER %

bearing at HIBOR+2.45% per annum and repayable as R EHIBOR+2.45% 5+ B AR
follows: VAT B R B 4R -
HK$'000
BT T
Within 1 year —F A 12,000
Between 1 year and 2 years —FEMERN 36,000
Between 2 years and 5 years MEZRFR 182,000
230,000

The directors of the Company considered that the

carrying amount of loan from immediate holding

company approximate to the fair values.

ARREERA  HEEERAT
MEFRREEREAFERS -
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continvea)

(c)

(d)

Remuneration of directors and other
members of key management

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

REMBREME @

e = b —ae e B = S e

32. EBFHE

(c)

EERHMIEEEEN
Szi&
FREFRHAMEEEEEME
ZBemT

2021 2020

—E-—% —T-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BT T

Short-term benefits %2 BR 13 A 5,199 5,167
Post-employment benefits Rz 18 A 241 132
5,440 5,299

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market

trends.

Other related party transactions

Rental expenses

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
paid rental and related expenses of HK$680,000 (2020:
HK$257,000) to a fellow subsidiary and immediate
holding company for its office in the PRC and Hong
Kong.

Loan

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
entered into a loan agreement with its immediate
holding company and incurred an interest expense and
payable of HK$1,047,000. Details of the loan and
interest payable are set out in Note 32(b) and Note 22

to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The
disclosed continuing connected transaction as defined in

related party transactions do not constitute a

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

(d)

FHNEZEEERESFREIETH
ABZERMNKRRETHEBBRE
ERE ZF B -

HtFELRXS
HEMZ
RBEE_ZT-_—F+_A=*+—
BIEFE AEERETBERE
BWEERNRRMNB AR RERE
TRARE NS RAERASTS
#680,0007C (— T — T 4F : B
257,0007T) °

E&
REE-_ZT-_—F+_A=+—
ALEFE AEEEEFERTR
RAEFI L ER W EEFN SR
% K FES FIE S 61,047,000 ©
EREZREFBHFHBSBEHR
Bt 5E32(0) % 47 & BF 75 3R & M &
22

[88 18 77 32 55 b 4 18 BBt <X AT RE 5
EHRAERZ AT RESER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 HEZZT=—F+t A=+ —RHLFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33.

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the
Company at end of reporting period:

XTI BIRR R HiER

(a) MBHEBREABTMEIK
MR :

2021 2020
—ES=-—f§ —TE-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT 7T T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARZEE 60,010 60,010
Amount due from a subsidiary NG S 396,003 369,179
456,013 429,189
Current assets mENEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b E SR IE A
T8I RIE 151 145
Prepaid tax TET B 5K 229 172
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRIR® 1,805 24,791
2,185 25,108
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables and accruals H A &~ FRIE A K&
FEFT R R 3,377 1,939
Amount due to a subsidiary JE T —FE BT /&8 & &)
I 170,167 165,993
173,544 167,932
Net current liabilities mEaEFEE (171,359) (142,824)
Net assets BEFE 284,654 286,365
Capital and reserves B AR K 1
Share capital [N 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves &% 17 4 (B I & 18 279,762 281,473
284,654 286,365
On behalf of the directors REEZER
Zhong lJie Zhang Yi
E: R
Director Director
EZE EZE
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. R ATIMBIRAR REER

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (ontinvea)
(b) Statement of changes in equity

(&)

(b) EmEHR

Non-
Share Share Capital distributable Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
k& ROEE EXEE TUSREE BREHE  BHEBR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT ERTn  B%TR  E%Tr BBt A%Tn BRI
At 1st January, 2020 RZZZZF
—A-H 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,166 (705,965) 298,937
Loss for the year FRER — — — — — (12,714) (12,714)
Exchange differences arising  REMEEZEXZE
on translation — — — — 142 — 142
At 31st December, 2020 RZZ_ZF
TZA=1t-4 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,308 (718,679) 286,365
Profit for the year FEREM — — — — - 244 244
Exchange differences arising  REME4CEXZE
on translation — — — — (1,955) — (1,955)
At 31st December, 2021 RZZ=—F
TZA=1-4 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 353 (718,435) 284,654
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 34. A A TIM B AT H1E

S COMPANY
[J)
@ Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at end of both reporting RWREHREER A2 Z2MBE QT
@ V]
2 periods are as follows: FBEWT
<
§ Issued and Proportion of ownership
Name of Place of Place of fully paid share/ interest/voting power Principal
2 subsidiary incorporation operation registered capital held by the Company activities
2 ERAREE FATREEEL/
- WBARER EMHIHE EENY i/ #RRE RERZILE IERH
g Directly Indirectly
E E& R
3] 2021 2020 2021 2020
< “%--f “T-%F ZBI-f “To%F
O
z % % % %
z
e China Nuclear International ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - — Trading of uranium
Corporation ("BVI") US$50,000
hHREREEERAA ZERREE &b £ 5 % £50,0007 #E5H
CNNC (HK) Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - —  Investment holding
HK$10,000
A &3 &3 LRBES10,0007 REZR
CNNC International Holdings ~ PRC PRC Registered capital 100 100 - — Dormant
(Shenzhen) Limited (Note (i)) HK$60,000,000
PRERAR (R BERAE FHE HE HMEAAEE FER
(B &£ 6)) 60,000,0007T
deal Mining BVI Hong Kong Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$50,000
BRBXARAA EBRIES Bk i1 & 2% £50,0007 REZR
Western Fortune Limited Malaysia Malaysia Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$100
SRAECEFHEERLA SRAEZ SRAZ HRERZ21007 REARR
Emeelt Mines LLC Mongolia Mongolia Registered capital - — 100 100 Mineral exploration in the
S$10,000 Mongolia
Emeelt Mines LLC e e i ERZ 2100007 RERERE
Notes: B 5
(i) CNNC International Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise (i) AR B R IR ORI B R R &~ 7EH B K S/ 5h
established in the PRC. MEELE-
(ii) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of 2021 and 2020. (ii) E_E-_—FER T _TEFR WEHBQA
BEATEETS &S
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36.

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the Group had no
significant capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the Group had no
significant contingent liabilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

MPF offsetting mechanism

The Hong Kong Legislative Council has, on 9th June, 2022,
passed the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Bill") to
abolish the MPF offsetting mechanism. It is envisaged that the
cancellation of mechanism will not come into effect until 2025
at the earliest.

The abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism will not
have retrospective effect, and the Bill will not change the rate
and maximum payment of statutory severance payments or
long service payments, which is currently calculated as 2/3 of
the employee’s last monthly wages (capped at HK$22,500),
and subject to the maximum limit of HK$390,000.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of the Bill to the Group. The Group is not yet in a
position to state whether the abolishment of the MPF
offsetting mechanism will result in substantial change to the
Group's financial statements.

35.

36.

37.

REMBREME @

HE-_ZE-_—F+t=ZA=+—RHL&FE

B X
RZE - —FR_FTE-_FTF+ A
—t+—H ANEEREEREANRE-

N AREE
RZEZ—FR_FT_FF+ A
=t+—B AEEBMEBEERNIAGE-

BEXEIH

MRS H N

EEVEEER _E-__FXANHA
BB —FEE BT EEA
(EEZ B (B IRPI ER) &P E
]) 0 LABERR R TE D H IR o TERTEL
HEFIREER _E_RAFHAAER -

BUERESE RgSIErE ABEEH
mh - mMEPERE TS EENE
SRR LEERERNTRE
B EAREEREBEAFN =222
FFE (LR BB ®22,500m) &= R
A /5 75 #390,0007T °

AEBCHRAGGRIERGAEH
ERCH) R o N K N R B TEE BE IR
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Financial Summary
FHEME

Set out below is a financial summary of the Group for each of the W &I AEEBHE T - —F+ - A
five years ended 31st December, 2021: ST—HLERBAFESF2HMBHE -

RESULTS E 4

For the year ended 31st December,

BET-RA=t+-HILEE

CNNC International Limited 2021 Annual Report

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“E—tf “E-N\& —E-NE “E-%F “RI-%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BRI
Revenue g 652,600 1,992,052 3,169,836 1,662,470 280,639
Profit (loss) before tax BEEN(BE) 257 4292 (217,406) (42,237) 4,978
Income tax expense (credit) ERAY (He) — 19,321 (1,917) (3,860) (2,589)
Profit (loss) for the year EREF (E8) 257 23,613 (219,323) (46,097) 2,389
Earnings (loss) per share FRE (FE)
— Basic (HK cents) — EA(B) 0.1 48 (44.8) (9.4) 0.5
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERABRE
As at 31st December,
R+=R=+-8
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—4& —B-N\& —E-NE “E-%F “¥I-%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BRI
Total assets BEE 728,390 610,767 1,147,144 617,854 592,671
Total liabilities BEE (182,684) (44,073) (812,222 (308,787) (258,016)
Equity attributable to owners of NS N/ A
the Company E# 545,706 566,694 334,922 309,067 334,655
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Unit 3009, 30th Floor
No.118 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2598 1010
Fax: (852) 2598 6262
Email: info@cnncintl.com

&g
TrREMm1185%
30#23009%
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